Public Document Pack
Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 16th January, 2020
6.30 pm
Meeting Room A, Blackburn Town Hall

AGENDA
1.

Welcome and Apologies

2.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Minutes of Previous Meeting

3.

Declaration of Interest
Declaration of Interest Form

Material Considerations
4.

60 - 71

72 - 84

Planning Application 10-19-0973
2 Eldon Road, Blackburn, BB1 8BE

4.5

13 - 59

Planning Application 10/19/0770
Roe Lee Business Park, Off Whalley New Road,
Blackburn

4.4

11 - 12

Planning Application 10/19/0768
Roe Lee Business Park, Off Whalley New Road,
Blackburn

4.3

9 - 10

Planning Application 10-19-0642
Land at Ellerslie House, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen

4.2

8

Planning Applications for Determination
Committee Agenda

4.1

3-7

85 - 121

Planning Application 10-19-1065
The Wits Play Area, Preston Old Road, Blackburn, BB2
2TP

122 126

4.6

Planning Application 10/19/1090
3 Barn Meadow, Edgworth, BL7 0DW

127 135

Date Published: Wednesday, 08 January 2020
Denise Park, Chief Executive

Agenda Item 2

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
Thursday, 19 December 2019

PRESENT – Councillors, Councillor David Smith (Chair), Akhtar, Casey, Khan,
Khonat, Hardman, Slater, Jan-Virmani, Oates, Riley, Hussain, Pearson and
Browne.
OFFICERS - Gavin Prescott (Development Manager), Michael Green, Safina
Alam and Shannon Gardiner
RESOLUTIONS
74

Welcome and Apologies
The Chair welcomes everyone to the meeting.
There were no apologies.

75

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 21st
November 2019 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

76

Declaration of Interest
RESOLVED – There were no Declarations of Interest received.

77

Planning Application Summary
The Committee considered reports of the Director of Growth and Development
detailing the planning application.
In considering the applications, the Committee took into account
representations or submissions provided by individuals with the Officers
answering points raised during discussion thereon.

77.1

Planning application 10/19/0706
Speakers – Mr Farooq Rafiq
Applicant – Homewood Properties Ltd
Location and Proposed Development – Palm Tree Islamic School (Former
Montague Health Centre)
Full Planning Application for Demolition of Former Health Centre and
construction of 5 storey Apartment Block consisting of 76 no, 1 and 2 bedroom
apartments with associated car parking
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report and a Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, relating

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 19th December, 2019

Page 3

to the provision of formal/signed contacts for the lease of a percentage of the
apartments as per the submitted details, or as otherwise agreed with the Local
Planning Authority and details of their full marketing plan, lettings policy,
management and maintenance plans to the satisfactions of the Local Planning
Authority.
Should the s106 agreement not be completed within 6 months of the date of
this resolution, the Director of Growth & Development will have delegated
powers to refuse the application.
77.2

Planning Application 10/19/0887
Applicant – Blackburn with Darwen Council
Location and Proposed Development – Haslingden Road (Old Bank Lane to
Lions Drive) Blackburn, BB1 2ND
Full Planning Application (Regulation 3) for Highways improvements including
road widening; new roundabout at junction of Old Bank Lane; boundary wall;
new point of access into housing allocation site to South of Haslingden Road
and demolition of associated building.
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report and additional conditions in the Update Report.

77.3

Planning Application 10/19/0888
Speaker – Paula Callaghan
Applicant – Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Location and Proposed Development –Land between Roman Road and
Blackamoor Road, Blackburn, BB1 2LG
Full Planning Application (Regulation 3) for a new link road and associated
junction works
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director
Report and additional conditions in the Update Report.

77.4

Planning Application 10/19/0947
Applicant – Lidl Great Britain Ltd
Location and Proposed Development – Furthergate Works, St Clement
Street, Blackburn, BB1 1AB
Minor Material Amendment for Variation of Condition No's 5, 11, 13, 20 and
23, pursuant to planning application 10/18/1094 "Demolition of existing
building and the erection of a Lidl store (Use Class A1) with associated works

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 19th December, 2019

Page 4

including improved access, parking area and landscaping" - to amend site
layout to provide for proposed removal of Cherry Street egress and boundary
treatment amendments.
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Refused that the proposal will be detrimental to the efficiency
and safety of highway users, by virtue of generating excessive right turn
manoeuvres onto Furthergate from the St Clements Street with Furthergate
junction; contrary to Policy 10 of the Local Plan Part 2 and in accordance with
Section 109, paragraph 109 of The Framework.
78

Proposed Edgworth Cricket and Recreation Ground TPO
The Committee were requested to endorse the actions of the Council’s
Arboricultural Officer/Planning Manager (Development Manager) in making
and serving the Edgworth Cricket and Recreational Club Tree Preservation
Order 2019. The Committee were also requested to confirm Edgworth Cricket
and Recreational Club Tree Preservation Order 2019 (ref: N29) without
modification.
The Council made the Order following a request from local ward Councillor
Jean Rigby to the Council’s Environment Department in September 2019, to
assess whether the trees within the site were considered for protection.
Councillor Rigby confirms that the request was put forward in consultation with
the Chair of the North Turton Parish Council.
As a result of this request, a Tree Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders
(TEMPO) was carried out by the Council’s Arborist on the 2nd October 2019. It
was considered that there were two distinct areas around the site which were
worthy of Group Tree Preservation Orders (TPO). These were:
1) G1 around the perimeter of the cricket ground; and
2) G2 around the perimeter of the bowling green, and to the east of the Barlow
Institute. As such, following this assessment, it was considered that a Tree
Preservation Order (TPO) should be made. In addition, an individual sycamore
tree to the east of the cricket club house is also considered to be worthy of
protection (ref: T1).
RESOLVED – Approved that the actions of the Arborist and Planning Manager
(Development Management) in making and serving the Edgworth Cricket and
Recreation Ground Tree Preservation Order 2019 be endorsed.
That the Edgworth Cricket and Recreation Ground Tree Preservation Order
2019 (ref: N29) is confirmed without modification.

79

Stopping Up of Part of Charles Street, Darwen
A report was submitted to inform Members of a request received from the Growth and
Development team to formally Stop-up part of Charles Street, Darwen from its
junction with Edward Street in a north easterly direction and a further pathway which
crosses the land and runs from the footbridge to the rear of Duckworth Street (as per
the attached plan) and to ask Members to authorise the Director of HR, Legal and
Governance to apply to the Magistrates’ Court to obtain the necessary Order.

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 19th December, 2019

Page 5

Blackburn with Darwen Highways received a formal request on 14th November
2019 from the Growth and Development team, for the Stopping Up and an
undertaking to bear all costs in obtaining the Stopping Up Order as described in the
Council’s fees and charges list.
The Growth team are intending to dispose of a parcel of land which abuts this section
of Charles Street and as part of that process, will provide an alternative footpath
around the land as the existing one which currently crosses the land will be closed
permanently. The alternative path will follow the line of and occupy part of this section
of Charles Street. A second path which crosses the land and runs from the footbridge
to the rear of Duckworth Street will also be closed permanently as part of the stopping
up. It is felt that this path is not extensively used and more importantly that the
planned alternative path will provide an adequate route for the pedestrians to access
the shopping area and bus stops.
The section of Charles Street to be stopped up no longer exists as highway and has
been landscaped. It also serves no properties. It is reasonable to take the view that it
has no role as a public highway and is therefore eligible to be stopped up under the
terms of S 116 of the Highways Act 1980.
RESOLVED – That the report be authorised to progress with the closure of the street.

80

Stopping Up of Streets Griffin Area
A report was submitted to inform Members of the receipt of a request from the Growth
and Development team for the Council to progress an Order for the Stopping Up of
streets at a development site in the Griffin area and to ask Members to authorise the
Director of HR, Legal and Governance to apply to the Magistrates’ Court for the
necessary Order as per the attached plan.
The Growth and Development Team are working with Seddon Construction to bring
forward the Griffin Regeneration/clearance site for a housing development. The
previous housing area was declared unfit and identified for clearance and
redevelopment. The highways within the area are all still adopted but in need of
renewal/refurbishment.
The new housing layout will provide good quality family homes which will include off
street parking, front and back gardens and improved public realm. The current
proposed scheme layout planned generally follows the existing road pattern but
improves local security by removing likely crime hotspots such as back alleys and
ginnels.
Although the initial proposed layouts tend to us the existing road pattern, by closing
these roads where possible, it not only gives the developer more options to change
the layout if necessary but also during the construction phase there would be no need
for temporary closures, diversions, etc. as the roads are already closed. All the roads
on the site will be readopted once the development is finished and the roads have
been renewed.
As the area has been subject to house clearances over a period of time and the roads
earmarked for closure within the development sites no longer serve any properties, it
is reasonable to take the view that they have no role as public highway and are
therefore eligible to be stopped up under the terms of S 116 of the Highways Act
1980.
RESOLVED – That the report be authorised to progress with the closure of the street.

81

Enforcement Report

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 19th December, 2019

Page 6

A report was submitted seeking authorisation to take enforcement action
against all persons having an interest in land at 91 Canterbury Street,
Blackburn, BB2 2HT.
Background information including grounds for the request were outlined in the
report.
RESOLVED – Authorisation be given to issue an Enforcement Notice, if
ultimately necessary, to seek the cessation of the use of the land as a C4
(HMO) use.

Signed: ………………………………………………….
Date: …………………………………………………….
Chair of the meeting
at which the minutes were confirmed

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 19th December, 2019

Page 7

Agenda Item 3
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA

Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest
at the appropriate point on the agenda.
MEETING:

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE

DATE:
AGENDA ITEM NO.:
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF):
NATURE OF INTEREST:

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate)

SIGNED :
PRINT NAME:
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer)

Page 8

X:\Planning & Highways\2017\Misc\Declaration of Interest\Declaration of Interest Form.doc

Material Consideration

“Material Considerations” are not limited to matters relating to amenity and can
cover a range of considerations, in regard to public or private interests, provided that
there is some relationship to the use and development of land.
Where it is decided that a consideration is material to the determination of a planning
application the courts have held that the assessment of weight is a matter for
planning judgement by the planning authority, rather than the court. Materiality is a
matter of law for the Court, weight is for the decision maker. Accordingly it is for the
Committee to assess the weight to be attached to each material consideration, but if
a Council does not take account of a material consideration or takes account of an
immaterial consideration then the decision is vulnerable to challenge in the courts.
By section 38(6) of the Planning & Compensation Act 2004 Act every planning
decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan (taken as a whole)
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policies and guidance
contained in the hierarchy of planning documents are important material
considerations and the starting point for the Committee in its assessment of
development proposals and most decisions are usually taken in line with them.
However, the Committee is legally obliged to consider all material matters in
determining a planning application and this means that some decisions will not follow
published policy or guidance. In other words, the Committee may occasionally depart
from published policy when it considers this is outweighed by other factors and can
be justified in the circumstances of the particular case. Similarly, in making a
decision where there are competing priorities and policies the Committee must
exercise its judgement in determining the balance of considerations
The following provides a broad guide of what may and may not be material, though
as with any broad guidance there will on occasions be exceptions

MATERIAL:

NOT MATERIAL:

Policy (national, regional & local)

The identity of the applicant

development plans in course of
preparation
Views of consultees
Design
Visual impact
Privacy/overbearing/amenity impacts
Daylight/sunlight

Superceded development plans and
withdrawn guidance
Land ownership
Private Rights (e.g. access)
Restrictive covenants
Property value
Competition (save where it promotes a
vital and viable town centre)
Loss of a private view
“moral issues”
“Better” site or use”
Change from previous scheme
Enforcement issues
The need for the development (in most
circumstances)

Noise, smell, pollution
Access/traffic /accessibility
Health and safety
Ecology, landscape
Fear of Crime
Economic impact & general economic
conditions
Planning history/related decisions

Page 9

Cumulative impact
Need (in some circumstances – e.g. green
belt)
Impacts upon and provision of open/amenity
space
existing use/permitted development rights/fall
back
retention of existing use/heritage issues
fear of setting a precedent
composite or related developments
Off-site benefits which are related to or are
connected with the development
In exceptional circumstances the availability
of alternative sites
Human Rights Act 1998 & Equality
Before deciding a planning application members need to carefully consider an application against the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.
Protocol 1 of Article 1, and Article 8 confer(s) a right of respect for a person’s private and family life,
their possessions, home, other land; and business assets.
Article 6, the applicants (and those third parties, including local residents, who have made
representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full
consideration to their representation, and comments,
In taking account of all material considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Core
Strategy and saved polices of the Unitary Development Plan, the Head of Planning and Transport
has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the applicant(s)/objector(s)/resident(s)
and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that might be affected may be interfered with but that
interference is proportionate, in accordance with the law and justified by being in the public interest
and on the basis of the planning merits of the development proposal. Furthermore he believes that
any restriction on these rights posed by the approval of an application is proportionate to the wider
benefits of approval and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.
Other duties have to be taken into account in determining planning applications for example the
promotion of measures to reduce crime, the obligation not to act in a discriminatory manner and
promote equality etc.
NB: Members should also be aware that each proposal is treated on its own merits!
Reasons for Decision
If members decide to go against officer recommendations then it is their responsibility to clearly set
out their reasons for doing so, otherwise members should ask for the application to be deferred in
order that a further report is presented setting out the background to the report, clarifying the reasons
put forward in the debate for overriding the officer recommendation; the implications of the decision
and the effect on policy; what conditions or agreements may be needed; or just to seek further
information.
If Members move a motion contrary to the recommendations then members must give reasons before
voting upon the motion. Alternatively members may seek to defer the application for a further report.
However, if Members move a motion to follows the recommendation but the motion is lost. In these
circumstances then members should be asked to state clearly their reasons for not following the
recommendations or ask that a further report be presented to the next meeting

Page 10

BwD Council - Development Control

Agenda Item 4

General Reporting
REPORT NAME: Committee Agenda.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
BACKGROUND PAPERS
There is a file for each planning application containing application forms, consultations,
representations, Case Officer notes and other supporting information.
Gavin Prescott, Development Manager – Ext 5694.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION: The extent of neighbour notification is shown on the location plans which
accompany each report. Where neighbours are notified by individual letter, their properties are marked
with a dot. Where a site notice has been posted, its position is shown with a cross.
PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION Date: 16/01/2020
Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

Land at Ellerslie House
Bury Fold Lane
Darwen

Darwen South
Whitehall

Application Type
10/19/0642
Mrs Patricia Da Silva
Ellerslie House
Bury Fold Lane
Darwen
BB3 2QG

Reserved Matters Application for Approval of Reserved Matters for the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 18 dwellings; pursuant to
Outline Approval 10/15/1081.
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/19/0768
Mr E Yaseen
72/80 Bolton Road
Blackburn
BB2 3PZ

Roe Lee Business Park
Off Whalley New Road
Blackburn
BB1 9SU

Roe Lee

Full Planning Application (Regulation 4) for Erection of 5 No. workshop and storage units (Use Classes B1 and B8) including associated
servicing yard
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/19/0770
Mr E Yaseen
72/80 Bolton Road
Blackburn
BB2 3PZ

Roe Lee Business Park
Off Whalley New Road
Blackburn
BB1 9SU

Roe Lee

Full Planning Application (Regulation 4) for Retrospective Application to retain 11 units (Units 2 - 12) on Former Roe Lee Mill site (Use Classes
B1 and B8) with Unit 8 operating as a gym (Use Class D2)
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Execution Time: 6 minute(s), 15 second(s)

Page 11Printed by ADMMXI\Nadia_Saddique2 on 06/01/2020 10:36:08
Page 1 of 2

Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

2 Eldon Road
Blackburn
BB1 8BE

Shear Brow & Corporation Park

Application Type
10/19/0973
Mr Sajid Ibrahim
2, Eldon Road
Blackburn
BB1 8BE

Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Retention of single storey rear extension with a decrease in height of 150mm
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/19/1065
Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council
Mr Rashid Valli
Cathedral One
Floor 1
blackburn
BB1 1FB

Witton Country Park
The Wits Play Area
Preston Old Road
Blackburn
BB2 2TP

Livesey With Pleasington

Full Planning Application (Regulation 3) for Facade upgrade to changing facilities with vinyl wrapping and graphics
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/19/1090
Mr Ben Hardman
353 Chapeltown Road
Turton
BL7 0EQ

3 Barn Meadow
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0DW

West Pennine

Full Planning Application for Proposed garage conversion and single storey rear extension
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Execution Time: 6 minute(s), 15 second(s)

Page 12Printed by ADMMXI\Nadia_Saddique2 on 06/01/2020 10:36:08
Page 2 of 2

Agenda Item 4.1
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0642

Proposed development: Reserved Matters Application for:
Approval of
Reserved Matters for the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 18
dwellings; pursuant to Outline Approval 10/15/1081.
Site address:
Land at Ellerslie House
Bury Fold Lane
Darwen
Applicant: Mrs Patricia Da Silva
Ward: Darwen South
Councillor Kevin Connor
Councillor Neil Slater
Councillor Lilian Salton
DR

IVE

354

1

Moorcroft

1
3
358

Heatherby

Astley Bank
ET

B
BO ACK
LT
ON
RD

183.8m

7

HE

RE
TL

2

3

18

6.8m

AS

SH

1

EY

EP

ST

E
22

RRAC

11

7

AS

TE
TLEY

RD

ET

ST

RE

20

7

Thorncliffe

8

5

4

6

191.7m

BU

RY

FO

LD

17

LA

NE

1

11

5

215.8m

3

Ashdale

Shepherd's

201.8m

6

Cottage

224.6m

Astley Bank
18
10

23

Kebb's

LE

19

EL

2.3m

Cottage

N

ST

RE

ET

2

11

16

1

Tree Tops
Ashton Lea
Old Coach House

NE

195.1m

rook

Keepers

LA

bs B

Lodge

LD

Keb

FO

27

BU

RY

28

29

26

FB

26

FB

Ellerslie

20

23

FB

21

24

22

25

SM

19

Pond

16

17

18

34

Overflow

3 to 9

2

Sluice

1

Low Hill

33

210.8m

dene

ene

Rose

leig

37

Cran

Ingled

h

FB

Weir

32

218.0m

FOLD

LAN

E

43

RY

AN

E

BU

IN

BRA

PR

ESID

E LA

NE

TCO

1

1

HO

PL

Heron's Rest

TS

Barn

WES

The

TE
STR

2

231.8m
Bury
Cotta

EET

Bury
Fold
Farm

Fold
ge

)

de

(um

7

th

Braesi

Pa
Hillsb

6

oro

Bury Fold
5

45

35

Horndean
37

Bramble House
15

17

The Coppice

227.8m

Moor
Hurst

Page 13

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions; as set out in paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This major planning application is submitted in the form of a Reserved Matters
proposal; pursuant to Outline Planning Permission granted for the erection of
22 three and four bedroom dwellings and associated access, in 2015. As with
the outline application, this application is reported to the Committee following
the receipt of a significant number of objections.

2.2

The application site is allocated as a ‘Development Opportunity’ site known as
‘Ellerslie House’, comprising 2.3 hectares; in accordance with the Local Plan
Part 2. Outline planning permission was granted in the context of the site
allocation which supports the principle of ‘small scale’ residential. Matters
pertaining to the following (summary) conditions which were attached to the
outline permission will be considered under a separate discharge of condition
application process, where applicable, or otherwise controlled:










Submission of samples of construction materials.
Submission of boundary treatments.
Submission of a detailed scheme for the site access, road widening works
and footpath on Bury Fold Lane as detailed on drawing number DES01/
DWG 02 amendment F received on 19th May 2016, to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, implementation of the
approved scheme prior to commencement of the development.
Submission of a scheme of off-site highway works to provide right hand
turning lane at the junction of Bolton Road and Bury Fold Lane. The
approved scheme to be implemented prior to construction of the
development.
Submission of a detailed vehicular access design to ensure appropriate
visibility splays to Bury Fold Lane.
Visibility splays shall not at any time be obstructed by any building, wall,
fence, hedge, tree, shrub or other device exceeding a height greater than
1 metre above the crown level of the adjacent highway.
Submission of a Construction Method Statement shall be submitted to,
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The
Statement shall provide for:
a)
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
b)
loading and unloading of plant and materials
c)
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development
d)
wheel washing facilities, including a method statement outlining
how the developer intends to use and manage the facility. The
approved wheel wash shall be put in place at all vehicle access

Page 14
























points onto the public highway when work commences and shall
remain in operation throughout the period of development;
e)
construction methodology for the road widening works, including
relocated supporting wall on Bury Fold Lane.
Submission of a scheme for protecting existing neighbouring residential
dwellings from dust during site works.
Construction restricted to the hours of:
Monday to Friday 08:00 to18:00.
Saturday 09:00 to13:00.
Not at all on Sunday and Bank Holidays.
Vehicles associated with construction of the development shall only
access Bury Fold Lane between the hours of:
- Monday to Friday 08:00 to18:00.
- Saturday 09:00 to13:00.
- Not at all on Sunday and Bank Holidays.
Submission of contaminated land survey
Submission of an arboricultural method statement and tree protection
plan.
Hard and soft Landscaping, to include replacement native tree planting
and to compensate for lost habitat specified in paragraphs 3.2.1 of the
submitted Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey (Pennine Ecological –
December 2014).
No existing trees or hedges within the development site shall be lopped,
topped, felled, uprooted, pruned, or sustain root severance, without prior
written consent from the Local Planning Authority.
All existing trees that are not shown to be removed on the approved plan
and all newly planted trees becoming diseased, severely damaged,
removed or dying within the development period or within five years of the
completion of the development shall be replaced in accordance with a
scheme to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Submission of a scheme for foul and surface water drainage.
Submission of a sustainable drainage management and maintenance
plan.
The siting of dwellings to retain a 5m buffer zone to tree canopies, unless
further bat survey work is undertaken to demonstrate value of the site for
foraging and mitigation in accordance with findings of that survey.
Submission of a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy, which should seek to
compensate for lost habitat specified in paragraphs 3.2.1 of the submitted
Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey (Pennine Ecological – December 2014)
and provision of Bat and Bird Boxes.
Vegetation removal should not be undertaken during the nesting bird
season (March to August, inclusive), unless a nesting bird check
undertaken immediately prior to construction has confirmed the absence
of nesting birds.
Scheme for the eradication of invasive species from the site, including
Himalayan balsam.
Lighting scheme proposed to minimise impact upon bat foraging areas.
If construction of the development has not commenced within two years of
the date of submitted Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey (Pennine

Page 15

Ecological – December 2014), an updated Ecology Report shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any
required mitigation shall inform the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy
and landscaping strategy for the development.
2.3

Members are advised that under the outline permission, the principle of
a residential development on the site, of up to 22 dwellings with
associated access arrangements along Bury Fold Lane, including
widening a section thereof, has been accepted by the Council following
the Committee meeting in July 2016. This application seeks permission
for the remaining reserved matters; limited to consideration of
appearance, landscape, layout and scale.

2.4

The assessment establishes that the proposal corresponds with the Council’s
overarching housing growth strategy, as set out in the Core Strategy and
Local Plan Part 2. It suitably demonstrates delivery of a high quality
development that would make an important contribution towards the Council’s
housing delivery target, adding choice and vitality to the local housing market.
Moreover, from a technical point of view, all issues have been addressed
through the application or are capable of being controlled or mitigated through
planning conditions.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site relates to the grounds which surround Ellerslie House and
access thereto, from the junction of Bury Fold Lane with the A666, Bolton
Road. Ellerslie House is a large, impressive detached mid-19th Century
dwelling located to the north west of Bury Fold Lane. The application site lies
within the south eastern edge of Darwen’s urban boundary. The site is
bounded by housing to the east and open countryside to the north, south and
west. A Listed Building is located to the south at Low Hill, being sited at the
edge of the footpath to Bury Fold Lane. Large mature trees, some of which
are protected by Tree Preservation Order, envelop the site and there is a
watercourse known as Kebbs Brook to the north. The site is accessed from
the A666 Bolton Road via Bury Fold Lane.
3.1.2 Topography rises steeply form the rear of terrace properties on Ellen Street
toward Ellerslie, where the land continues to rise more gradually toward the
west. There is also a drop in land level form south to north toward Kebbs
Brook.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Approval of Reserved Matters, following Outline Approval, is sought for the
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 18 dwellings; as set out in the
submitted drawings.

Page 16

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy

CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy

CS5 – Locations for New Housing

CS6 – Housing Targets

CS7 – Types of Housing

CS8 – Affordable Housing Requirement

CS15 – Ecological Assets

CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

CS18 – The Borough’s Landscapes

CS19 – Green Infrastructure
3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2)

Policy 1 – The Urban Boundary

Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development

Policy 8 – Development and People

Policy 9 – Development and the Environment

Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport

Policy 11 – Design

Policy 12 – Developer Contributions

Policy 18 – Housing Mix

Policy 28 – Development Opportunities

Policy 38 – Green Infrastructure on the Adopted Policies Map

Policy 39 – Heritage

Policy 40 – Integrating Green Infrastructure and Ecological Networks
with New Development

Policy 41 – Landscape
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
3.4.2 Green Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document
3.4.3 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) 2019

Page 17

Overall, The Framework aims to raise economic performance by ensuring the
quantity, quality and mix of housing reflect that required, with an expectation
to maintain a 5-year housing land supply. Quality design should be secured
and environmental impacts minimised. Effective use of under-used or vacant
land is also emphasised. Areas of The Framework especially relevant to the
proposal are as follows:

Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Building a strong, competitive economy

Making effective use of land

Achieving well-designed places

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 As aforementioned, assessment of this Reserved Matters application is limited
the following matters:





Appearance: Aspects of a building or place which affect the way it
looks, including the exterior of the development.
Landscaping: The improvement or protection of the amenities of the
site and the surrounding area; this could include planting trees or
hedges as a screen.
Layout: Includes buildings, routes and open spaces within the
development and the way they are laid out in relation to buildings,
routes and open space outside the development.
Scale: Includes information on the size of the development, including
the height, width and length of each proposed building.

3.5.2 The application site policy (LPP2 – Policy 28, site 28/12) has no specific
requirements for any of the reserved matters, beyond a direction of the
potential use of the site for ‘small scale residential’. Policy 11 (Design) of
LPP2 is the primary policy that guides the assessment.
Appearance
3.5.3 The proposed dwellings are of contemporary two storey appearance,
reflective of the modern timber frame construction solution and high energy
efficiency; featuring advanced levels of insulation and renewable
technologies.
3.5.4 The pallet of external materials proposed include a range of walling materials
consisting of white render, timber effect cladding and black facing brick
feature panels and plinths. This modern pallet of materials is considered to
appropriately contrast with the traditional grandeur and elegance of Ellerslie
House, serving to emphasise the building as a stand-alone property central to
a wider modern intervention.
3.5.5 The relationship with adjacent stone faced terraced rows, is somewhat
detached, due to the elevated position of the site. Moreover, the character of
the neighbouring area is mixed and previously compromised by the

Page 18

introduction of dormer style bungalows along Bury Fold Lane positioned
adjacent traditional terraced rows.
3.5.6 Proposed hard surface treatment to the internal highway and private
driveways is tarmacadam. An alternative, more sympathetic treatment to the
driveways is, however, considered necessary; provision of which will be
secured by condition.
3.5.7 Landscaping
Notwithstanding the current application, submission of a landscaping scheme
is required by condition attached to the outline permission. This will inform a
further detailed assessment of landscape provision, including hard surface
treatments as well as planting of new species and their densities. Details
submitted with this application include proposed retention of key boundary
tree groupings and vegetation, in response to the developed area; as set out
in an Arboricultural Constraints Appraisal and supporting drawings. It is
essential that the development ties into the existing landscape features; taking
advantage of the topography of the site, ensuring retention of key trees /
hedgerows and provides sufficient green communal spaces, to ensure a
development sympathetic to the sites urban fringe position. Submission of a
Woodland Management Plan will be secured by condition, to ensure
protection and effective management of existing woodland.
3.5.8 Layout
The dwellings are laid out in response to existing woodland and Ellerslie
House, the latter of which will feature as central focal point of the
development. Spacing between the proposed properties and Ellerslie House
takes into account the sensitivity of the property, ensuring preservation of its
character and setting. In this context, it should be acknowledged that the
outline permission offers the opportunity for the erection of up to 4no.
additional dwellings. The 18no. proposed is, therefore, considered to limit
impact on the character and setting of Ellerslie House, beyond what could
otherwise occur.
3.5.9 Dwellings will front an internal road off the existing access into the site from
Bury Fold Lane. The bulk of the properties (plots 1-15) will be arranged to the
west of Ellerslie fronting a two arm cul-de-sac; entry into which will feature
dual aspect dwellings straddling the road at plot nos. 1 and 15. Approach
from the existing point of access to the north east will feature large rear
gardens, screened by existing woodland. Woodland will also feature as a
focal point beyond the each cul-de-sac head. Remaining plots (16-18) will be
accessed from the existing internal road wrapping around the south side of
Ellerslie, which will transition into a new arch shaped cul-de-sac fronted by a
responsive row of dwellings laid out in arch form. A recurring theme
throughout the development will be the benefit of each dwelling having its own
portion of woodland within their rear garden space.
3.5.10 Separation between proposed dwellings and between proposed and existing
dwellings accords with the Council’s adopted separation; as set out in the
Residential Design guide SPD. Particular attention is paid to the interface

Page 19

between habitable windows to the rear of (proposed) plot no. 18 and the rear
of 19 Ellen Street; taking into account the elevated position of the applicant
site relative to those properties. Consequently, an appropriate separation of
circa 25.4m is secured.
3.5.11 Plot sizes throughout are generous and well-proportioned, having regard to
size of the dwellings and the overall spacious character of the site which
provides for generous amounts integrated green space and woodland.
3.5.12 The elevated position of the site and natural landscape features, relative to
surrounding development, presents a somewhat detached relationship. In
context, therefore, the importance of reflecting the essentially linear prevailing
pattern of development is diminished to an extent.
The proposed
arrangement of dwellings in a less orderly fashion is considered appropriate
and an effective use of the site; taking into account the importance of retained
woodland and open space as incorporated landscaping.
3.5.13 The layout offers sufficient connectivity through the site, taking into account
the constraints presented by the position of Ellerslie, the extent of woodland
and modest size of the site.
3.5.14 Off street parking, broadly in accordance with the Council’s adopted
standards, is provided for all dwellings, in the form of driveways and garages,
where applicable.
3.5.15The applicant has confirmed that the development will be gated and that
maintenance of the highway and communal areas will be the responsibility of
a private management company, upon completion. Internal highways will not,
therefore, be adopted by the Council. Submission of a Management /
Maintenance Plan and full details of the proposed gates will be secured by
condition.
3.5.16 Scale
15no. dwellings are proposed to the south west corner of the site, consisting
of 3no. house types. Each property will nestle into the sloping landscaping
which falls from north to south.
3.5.17 House type B is a 4 bedroom, split level detached dwelling, nominally 2
storey’s in height, with an integral single width garage. Its split level nature
appropriately responds to the sites topography, ensuring an integrated design
solution limiting the impact of the scale of the proposal.
3.5.18 House type C is a 2 storey, 4 bedroom detached dwelling with driveway
parking for a minimum of 3 cars.
3.5.19 House type E is a 5 bedroom, split level, nominally 2 storey’s in height, with
an integral single width garage. As with house type B, its split level
construction appropriately responds to the sites topography.

Page 20

3.5.20 House type A is proposed to the North East corner of the site. It is a 2 storey,
4 bedroom, detached dwelling with an attached double garage. As with
house types E and B the split level construction responds to the sites sloping
topography. The double garage will sit at a higher level.
3.5.21 The height of the proposed dwellings range between circa 8m and 9m; a
height considered proportionate, having regard to the range of architectural
styles present to the locality.
3.5.22 Accordingly, when assessed against the character criteria of Policy 11, the
proposal is considered compliant, by virtue of it demonstrably:

Establishing a strong character, by taking applying positive local
character traits in a modern context, through plot sizes, build style
(including colour and materials), resulting in a complimentary
development which accentuates the proposed house types and
contrasts them with Ellerslie House;

appropriately responding to the sites topography and general
landscape features;

making best use of existing connections, landmarks / views and the
relationship of buildings to the street, and:

presenting a scale of development proportionate to the surroundings.
3.5.23 Section 106 obligations
Members are advised that the outline permission was subject to the applicant
entering into an agreement under S106 of the Town & Country Planning Act
1990, requiring the following financial contribution towards:
a.
Affordable Housing - A formula detailing “‘x’ no. of dwellings x (42.5%
of average affordable house value) x 20% =£y contribution) towards the
provision of affordable housing off-site in the locality. The average
affordable house value is set at £150,000.
b.
Public Open Space –. The formal provision is to be provided via a lump
sum of £1406 per dwelling which would be used to enhance existing
open space/ play areas at Watery Lane and Ashton Park, as well as
land drainage improvements to Blacksnape football pitches; in
accordance with the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy.
3.5.24 Summary
This report assesses the reserved matters planning application for land at
Ellerslie House, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. In considering the proposal, a wide
range of material considerations have been taken into account to inform a
balanced recommendation that is considered to demonstrate compliance with
the Local Development Plan and The Framework, in support of the Council’s
strategic growth objectives.
To re-iterate, the assessment has been
undertaken in the context of the residential development of the site and
access arrangements off Bury Fold Lane, from the A666, having previously
been accepted under the outline planning permission.

Page 21

4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Delegated authority is given to the Director for Growth and Development
to approve planning permission, subject to conditions which relate to
the following matters:

Submission of external materials

Submission of a Management Plan for future maintenance of highways
and communal open areas

Submission of details for the gated entrance at the site

Submission of Woodland Management Plan.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/15/1081: Outline planning permission, granted by Planning & Highways
Committee on 1st August 2016, for the erection of 22 three and four bedroom
dwellings and access.

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Drainage
No objection subject to:
- Amendment to FRA to provide for climate change allowance to be
increased to 40% in accordance with EA recommendations
- Surface water drainage design to incorporate attenuation in the form of
a storage pond in order to comply with the Framework requirements for
water quality.

6.2

United Utilities
No objection subject to following conditions:
- Surface water drainage
- Foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems
Note: All drainage matters will be secured under the condition discharge
procedure, for drainage conditions attached to the Outline planning
permission.

6.3

Strategic Housing
No objection.

6.4

Public Protection
No objection:
Note: Matters to pertaining to public protection will be secured under the
condition discharge procedure for drainage conditions attached to the Outline
planning permission.

6.5

Environmental Services
No objection

Page 22

6.6

Highways Authority
No objection, subject to queries pertaining to the following matters:
- Site layout, including off-street parking and adequate carriageway /
footway provision.
These matters have been resolved though
submission of amended detail relating to off-street parking and
confirmation that the development will be remain in the charge of a
private management company, rather than Local Authority adoption.
Note: Other highway matters will be secured under the condition discharge
procedure for such conditions attached to the Outline planning permission.

6.7

Education
No response offered.

6.8

GMEU Ecology
No response offered.
Note: Ecological matters will be secured under the condition discharge
procedure for such conditions attached to the Outline planning permission.
This includes a requirement to submit an additional up to date Ecological Site
Survey, on account of the time elapsed since production of the initial
assessment in 2014.

6.9

Lancashire Constabulary
No response offered.

6.10

Neighbours
Neighbour notification letters were sent to 119 properties within the locality on
the 15th July 2019 and 5th December 2019. In addition site notices were
displayed and a press notice was published in the Lancashire Evening
Telegraph on the 26th July 2019. As a result of this consultation process 30
letters of objection have been received. The overwhelming majority of
objections expressed concern as to the access arrangements along Bury Fold
Lane, from the A666 and the impact of increased vehicular traffic. Such
arrangements and impact has, however, been assessed and accepted by the
Council under the previous Outline permission. Detailed specification of the
proposed improvement works will be considered under the condition
discharge procedure; in accordance with the requirements of conditions set
out in points 3 and 4 at paragraph 2.2. It should be emphasised that the
improvement works must be implemented prior to commencement of the
housing development.

6.11

Moreover, Members are advised that residents concern in relation to potential
damage resultant from the construction of the development, including
vibration from heavy vehicles using Bury Fold Lane and impact to housing
and road / drainage infrastructure, is a civil matter. Responsibility for damage
caused as a direct result of construction lies with the developer / land owner.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Nick Blackledge – Senior Planner, Development
Management.

Page 23

8.0
9.0

DATE PREPARED: 2nd January 2020
SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Comment - Hilary Midgley, 16 Bury Fold Cottages, Darwen. Rec 19/12/19
Dear Mr. Blackledge,
Regarding the above planning application: I would have sent my views to you today. However, I
stumbled early on, not being able to see the details of the amendment on the planning website. I
followed the steps suggested but could get no further than the initial table which state the nature of
the application.
I realise I will now be too late to submit anything, so my comments are for your future reference.
Please make the pathway for viewing planning applications, including amendments, much clearer
and easier to follow. I am computer literate but felt I was just going round in circles.
Yours sincerely,
Hilary Midgley

Objection – Wendy Humphreys, Nether Greenlowe Farm. Rec 21/12/2019
You wanted observations by 19th of Dec so I apologise that this is late. Having had an
opportunity now to look at the application in detail I can see no reference to possible access
to the site from Astley Terrace, I know there is a road going from Ellerslie House to Astley
Terrace and using this road to access these new houses would have been much better than
using Bury Fold Lane. Astley Terrace is much wider than Bury Fold Lane and has fewer
houses on it so is not so busy. I made these observations at the time of the previous
application but they have not been discussed or referred to nor have any possible reasons for
discounting them been given.
I would like to again say that access from Astley Terrace should be considered.
Wendy Humphreys
Nether Greenlowe Farm
Objection – Idris & Magdalen Davies – Unknown Address. Rec 19/12/2019
Dear Sir
I wish to raise my concerns regarding the proposed housing at Ellerslie
Bury Fold Lane Darwen.
I feel the plannig department have acknolidged that the road is not
suitable for the increase in traffick movements,by insisting that the upper
part of Bury fold be widened,, this will bring much disruption to all the
residents of the lane for a long period of time,,,which seems rather
pointless when the the lower part of the lane is much narrower,and
cannot be widened.
At a meeting i attended i was told by a member of the team from
Blackburn council that all the work to move the wall back would be done

Page 24

from behind ,,i find that hard to believe,,how can it be possible to build a
dry stone wall from behind .
Regardless of any changes to the actual buildings the above mentioned is
my main concern
I trust my concerns will be taken in to account when the decision is taken.
Regards Idris and Magdalen Davies.
Objection – Steve Farrell – Coach House, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 17/12/2019

Objection – Ian Embley – The Rock Higher, Bold Venture, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen.
Rec 16/12/2019

Page 25

Objection – Ray Chenery, 3 Bury Fold, Darwen Rec 10/12/2019
PROPOSED BUILDING ON LAND AT ELLERSLIE HOUSE, BURY FOLD LANE, DARWEN
I assume my previous comments concerning the Ellerslie House, Bury Fold Lane, application
are still on file.
These concerns still apply, and are mainly about what would be 

The disruption/destruction of the present safe, undisturbed, walled wildlife enclave.

The much-increased traffic on Bury Fold Lane, a narrow road exiting onto Bolton Road at a
risky, not to say dangerous, junction, with restricted sightlines in both directions.
Eighteen new dwellings would probably generate up to forty or more extra vehicles
regularly using Bury Fold Lane; sections of the footpath are now permanently used for
parking, sometimes leaving no space at all for pedestrians.
Objection – T Cowell, Unknown Address. Rec 22/08/2019

Page 26

Objection – Ian & Patricia Embley, The Rock Higher Bold Venture, Bury Fold Lane,
Darwen. Rec 09/08/2019

Page 27

Page 28

Page 29

Page 30

Objection – Helen Cowell, 14 Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 07/08/2019

Page 31

Objection – Trevor Cowell, Unknown Address. Rec 07/08/2019

Page 32

Objection – Mr George Kay & Dr Jane Kay, 11 Ellen Street, Darwen. Rec 05/08/19
We would like to object to the planning application reference 10/19/0642 Land at Ellerslie
House.
The application does not sufficiently take into consideration the disruption caused to traffic
flow on Bury Fold Lane and in Ellen Street.
Recently Virgin Media completed works which caused huge disruption in that area for all
road users and this level of disruption would not be acceptable for any length of time.
Additional road users from new housing would cause disruption and the requirements for
plant machinery to be able to use this small access road would be unacceptable for the road
surface as it currently is.
The type of housing that is proposed is not social housing or necessary housing for the area in
any form and so the likelihood of each dwelling having a significant number of vehicles is
increased.
The area does have some historical interest with Samuel Crompton’s blue plaque house being
on Bury Fold Lane, where traffic disruptions and the sheer weight of additional and repeated
plant vehicles using that area may cause damage.
There is already difficulty for any large vehicle using Bury Fold Lane or trying to access
Ellen street at certain of times of day (2pm when everyone is at work as oppose to weekends
and evenings when parking is severely limited).
New houses have already been built on the old Belgrave Mills site in Darwen – however this
has been left wallowing in uncertainty. Unfinished and an eyesore, there is no guarantee for
the current residents that we would not be left in the same situation or worse, since the
council is not asking for any financial bonds to secure the existing properties remain free
from damages.
Please accept our thanks for your consideration of this objection.
Mr George Kay
Dr Jane Kay BA(Hons)PGCE. MA. QTLS. FSET.
11 Ellen Street, Darwen, BB32QH
Objection – Mr R W Soutar, Ingledene Low Hill, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec
04/08/19
Dear Sir/Madam
Ellerslie Reserved Matters Application 10/15/1081
Referring to the Developer's statement, V1.0 (25 June 2019), I offer a cautious credit to the
Developer for the quality of their proposal. I have also looked at the Construction Method
Statement. My main reservations are:
* the proposals regarding the redevelopment of Bury Fold Lane itself
* the temptation for the developers to cut costs during the implementation phase resulting in a
decrease in quality and sustainability, specifically around the reconstruction of the lane and
the preservation of the mature trees at the borders of the site.
Both of these could have a major impact on our property and the ligitimate access to it.
In these matters, we are reliant of the diligence of the partnership between the Local

Page 33

Authority and the Community in monitoring the works so that they achieve the high
standards proposed. I accept that disruption during construction is inevitable, but I do not
wish the neighbourhood, including our new residents, to suffer materially in the medium to
long term.
Construction phase - traffic on Bury Fold Lane
The proposals are reasonable but lack detail. To my knowledge, surveys to date are unlikely
to have covered times of peak activity, which already shatter any ideas of a "quiet" lane. I
have observed visiting surveyors, whom I have seen during the "quiet" times but not at busy
ones. From around 10.00 to 15.00 hrs things are relatively "quiet" - apart from numerous
deliveries to properties, builders and service vans etc!
The last few years have seen a big increase in traffic from delivery vans. More and more
people in the neighbourhood are doing internet shopping and also having groceries delivered.
Often the delivery vans and trucks seem disproportionately large.
Currently, bins awaiting collection (as instructed by the Council) and parked cars can make
access for larger vehicles in the lane problematic. Bin collections (usually at "quiet" times)
can already cause obstructions and subsequent delays of several minutes and queues of
vehicles. Perhaps the Local Authority could send someone to accompany a bin collection and
assess the issues?
Because of all the limiting factors, the works need to be planned very carefully and surveys
need to be carried out at times of peak activity (as determined by residents and not by the
convenience to visiting surveyors). It is unlikely that enough up-to-date information been
gathered to plan the works properly, given the severe consequences for residents and for local
economic activity should these plans lead to delays or worse. Have surveys been done at
busier times of year (i.e. not during the summer holidays)? I have a continuing fear of being
marooned in my house, unable to go to work or get to the hospital in an emergency.
Construction phase - residents' parking
Many of my neighbours are hardworking taxpayers, with a good number requiring transport
for their business activities, not just to commute to work. Others require a car as a condition
of their job, having two sets of employment or working anti-social hours. Many of my
neighbours do not have private drives and must park their cars overnight at the roadside. If
roadside parking were to be restricted or banned, then their livelihoods could be threatened. A
key issue is that there is, in practical terms, nowhere else to go. Parking on the A666 is either
restricted or dangerous. Parking on the other side of the A666 is either privately owned and
policed (Mayfield Flats) or in the industrial zone beyond which is already hazardous. (I
parked my car over there when I could not drive it up the lane in the snow. When I returned
to it the next day I found that it had been vandalised.)
Delivery and service vehicles compound the parking problem - they either desire or have a
genuine need to park outside the properties in order to service them.
Then there is the issue of construction workers arriving either before the site gates are open or
in the event that gates are closed when they should be open. (If something goes wrong, then it
will).
During the road works, the Developer could enhance community relations by allocating some

Page 34

temporary parking space outside the site gates (reposition the gates accordingly?). In case of
severe disruption (accidents happen) space could be allocated for vehicles to turn round. This
could obviate the problem of vehicles from higher up (possibly having traveled a few miles)
coming down the lane and finding the road blocked, with the chance of getting snagged in a
traffic jam that would be difficult to unravel. It would provide the option for able-bodied
drivers to walk down to the main road to continue their journey and to walk back again to
reclaim their vehicles afterwards. Just one abandoned vehicle near the site entrance could
cause chaos to all concerned, including the contractors.
Junction with A666
This is currently a major concern - and this is before any work starts. If cars are parked
legally there, visibility is adequate, but any vans or larger vehicles that are parked cause us to
venture almost half way across the carriageway before we can see if the road is clear. This
needs to be reviewed again.
Wall and banking bordering Bury Fold Lane
We are grateful to your Highways Dept for their proposals for improvements. We note that
the Developer has stated a commitment to the sustainability policy of "reuse and recycle".
Could we get assurances that the new retaining wall will re-use all the stonework of the
existing wall? Surely this is the most sustainable construction in terms of material and energy
use. A stone-clad wall have the added amenity and environmental value for residents both old
and new.
A longer term issue is the maintenance of the new wall. Any slippage from the bank will give
rise to a dangerous hazard. Who will be responsible for the long-term maintenance?
Preservation of trees at the site boundary
The current mature trees adjoining the lane provide shelterbelt (including noise reduction). I
note that no shelterbelt trees are to be removed above the site access point. Lower down, I
accept that it may be necessary to remove some trees as part of the lane widening work. Do
we know exactly which ones these will be? I have concerns that the penalties for removing
trees are derisory compared to the financial advantage of chopping them down. Once
destroyed, we will not see trees like this here for another hundred years or so. Mature trees
are a significant store of carbon and replanting will not make up the carbon balance in the
short to medium term. I would like to see practical commitments from the Developer
regarding sustainability and climate change, not just words.
My comments above are independent of the particular applicant but carry a wariness of
developers in general. The process would be much more convivial were the Developer to
present their plans to the local community in person.
R W Soutar (Mr)
Objection – Mrs Hazel Thomas, Rosedene, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 04/08/19
I am writing in objection to the houses being built on the land at Ellerslie house.
After reading various documents and viewing the photos I am amazed at the deceit and the
misleading statements that have occurred in these papers. If they have been taken serious by

Page 35

the council I am amazed. They need to come onto Bury Fold itself with their cars and talk to
residents that have lived here for many years.
In document J350/TS it shows very deceiving pictures mainly at the bottom of the lane at the
junction of the A666 (not the A560as stated on the pictures). It gives the impression that there
is enough room for 2 cars to pass at the junction but there is only enough room for one car
and many times cars have to back out on the main road if cars are coming down, which is
very dangerous.
It also mentions about ‘opportunistic passing places’ this means mounting the pavement for
one car to let the other pass. There are two small places which allows 2way traffic but there is
always residential parking in these paces so impossible for 2way traffic and you have to
patiently wait on the pavement.
It also mentions about surveying the area which in itself is a joke putting the counter above
Ellerslie gates which only counts the few houses above Ellerslie. The survey should have
been taken at the bottom of the lane where there is single lane traffic at the junction with the
main road(A666). Then there would be a true record of the majority of the houses using Bury
Fold to show the difficulties of everyday movement of residents, deliveries and local
amenities.
In document 16097-DA
2.14 Widening the lane between Helen Street and Ellerslie gateway is a great concern to
many residents especially if it is not in keeping with the rest of the wall. If it is not redone
with the original stone it will look out of place
and not in keeping with the rest of the countryside. Also, there will be the unbelievable
disruption while the work is carried out.
2-17 Contributing, conserving and enhancing the natural environment has already been
affected by the cutting down of the many trees already in the Ellerslie grounds. It already has
had an effect on the deer which are not now moving through the way they used to.
2-19 Mentions affordable housing which would in my mind be smaller town houses. These
are detached expensive houses for people with money and cars which will cause more
disruption on the lane.
2-20 States how it will enhance the quality of the area. They are destroying woodland and the
lovely looks of our countryside and are going to have a building site. It says about creating
safe and accessible environment is a joke with areas of the lane which are single track which
is impossible to make into a two-way road and people have to pull over and drive on the
pavement. There will also always people having to back their cars onto a busy main road of
the A666 when there is not enough room for 2 cars to pass at the bottom of Bury Fold.
All these things taken into consideration I totally object to the plans being allowed to be
passed.
Yours faithfully

Page 36

Objection – Idris & Magdalen Davies, 32 Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 04/08/19
Dear Sir,
I wish to raise my concerns over the proposed development at Ellerslie ,,Bury Fold
Lane Darwen.
1. At a previous meeting of residents of BFL ,we were told there would be no
disruption to residents whilst the wall was moved back to increase the width of the
carriageway,now we are being told that there will have to be some
traffic management system in place ,,namely traffic lights,this will disrupt my day and
that of other residents ,for in excess of 12 months,,this is totally unacceptable.Noise
,construction traffic will be a nightmare.
2. The plans of this devopment show approximatly 40 vehicles on the site,,this will
dramaticaly increase trafic movements up and down the lane,and increase
the danger at the junction with the A666,which has very restricted view of a very
busy road due to lack of yellow lines and irresponable parking.
The council highways department have refused to make any improvments to this
junction due to lack of funds and the fact there has,nt been an accident YET.
3.When this application was first raised we were told that 20% of this development
would be affordable housing,no mention of this at this stage,,three and four bedroom
properties are certainly not classed as affordable.
4.The design and finish of theses properties is not in keeping with the country
setting.
5.Nothing has been said about how the wall will be restored,as it has been in place
for hundreds of years,it needs to be as near to it original state as possible.So this
needs to be addressed prior to any work starting.

Page 37

Objection – Mrs Janice Cowell, Low Hill, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 02/08/19

Page 38

Objection – Donald Sharples, Heightside Farm, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec
02/08/19

Dear Sir
I wish to comment on the above proposed development and strongly wish for
the following to be considered in relation to future discussions by the planning
committee:
1. The opportunities to carry out my normal business
On regular occasions I am either unable to, or have great difficulty
transporting goods to and from my farm due to the current volume of cars
using Bury Fold Lane inconsiderately and from the volume of cars parking
on the lane causing congestion on this very narrow highway. Wagons have
ultimately had to reverse back down to the A666. It has become normal
working practice for me to have to escort vehicles and try to identify owners
of cars inconsiderately parked. The junction with the A666 is very narrow
and cannot be accessed with a wagon if coming from the South to turn into
Bury Fold Lane – this would not be resolved by widening the lane further up
as proposed.
2. The proposed widening of the lane
Bury Fold Lane cannot be widened below Ellen Street which is a ‘pinch
point’.
The junction with the A666 cannot be widened due to cottages.
The widening of the Lane by setting back the dry-stone wall for the distance
noted in the plans could be considered as beneficial but does not take away
the problems elsewhere. In order to move this wall back 2 metres huge
disruption is likely to occur not only when removing the stone but in the
digging out of the land and reconstruction. Again, this will impact on the
normal working practices of my business carrying essential items such as
feed to my stock and preventing me from providing goods ordered to my
customers, potentially having a huge economic impact.
3. Inaccurate traffic survey
The original traffic survey was undertaken in 2015 with the ‘counter’ not
best placed to give an accurate picture of realistic lane usage. Since then the
volume of traffic – cars, delivery vans, caravans, commercial vehicles have
increased. If the intention is to allow for 18 more dwellings likely to have

Page 39

two to three cars at each property this will further increase the volume of
traffic. Even if the lane is widened at the proposed point this will not stop
congestion at other points again causing disruption not only to my business
but to other residents.
4. Inappropriate housing design
Bury Fold Lane has buildings that are of historic interest and properties
developed over the years have been in keeping with the character of the area.
The new properties proposed are not going to enhance in any way the
identity of the surroundings and should not be considered in their current
form.
I would respectfully request that the above points are taken into consideration
during planning decisions.
Yours sincerely
Objection – Brian & Christine Chappell, 34 Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 02/08/2019
We wish to object to the Reserved Matters Application for land at Ellerslie House, Bury Fold
Lane, Darwen: reference number 10/19/0642.


The removal of the dry-stone wall running from Ellerslie gates to the junction of
back Ellen Street
o This will have impact on widening the road outside mine and neighbours’
properties but will have no impact on other areas of narrow road present on
the lane. There is a structure on the East of Ellen Street junction which is a
major narrowing for passing traffic. The junction of Bury Fold with the A666
appears to be wide enough for two small vehicles but in reality, it is not.
o If the removal is to take place there are huge concerns as to the process and
method used for demolition and reconstruction to limit disruption and damage
to underlying structures. What guarantees are to be offered if this occurs and
impacts on my property?
o It is assumed that the replacement of the wall has considered the steep rise of
the land on which it borders and supports – what risks are there of
landslip/collapse and have these been taken into consideration?
o Essentially it must be stressed that any replacement wall is of the same
character in order to preserve our heritage dry stone walls.
o Can it be guaranteed that the new wall will be maintained? Historically there
has been no maintenance of the current wall in the last twenty years with trees
growing out of the structure, shrubs and trees overhanging the footpath and
calloused roots causing damage to cars.



Traffic movements
o An up to date traffic survey is required as it is understood from the Council
documents associated with the planning application that the last one was dated
August 2015. The counter for this survey was inappropriately placed and did

Page 40

not reflect the true picture. The counter needs to be placed at the junction with
the A666 as it is not only traffic that passes Ellerslie House but the impact of
all traffic using the lane to consider congestion at certain points and how this
currently affects residents in this area.
o There is an increase in traffic at all times of the day and night: delivery vans
from internet shopping, delivery vehicles from supermarket shopping, garden
maintenance vehicles, business vehicles new residents, taxis, residents’
vehicles (new drivers, flats, multi-car homes), tractor units and associated
trailers – all of these currently contribute to a very busy lane.
o If there are to be eighteen new dwellings with a minimum of four bedrooms
potentially this could result in seventy-two further vehicles travelling up and
down the lane. Add on to this delivery vans and visitors and this will be a
further increase. ‘Opportune’ passing places as was quoted in a previous report
are non-existent – particularly if this means ends of driveways which have
been seriously eroded due to the practices of vehicles using these to pass other
vehicles and ultimately having to be fixed by the residents, not the highways
department. This can only be exacerbated if and when the development starts
from the increase in heavy construction vehicles.


Parking
o Photographs of the lane within the associated documents show few cars
parked. Again, this is an inaccurate reflection of the real situation.
o Despite residents receiving letters about the inappropriate parking i.e. blocking
footpaths, this continues to be a major hazard and no follow up actions have
been taken.
o Driveways become unusable, or at least difficult on which to manoeuvre to
park and visibility of vehicles travelling up and down the lane limited when
leaving. Parked cars will continue to be a hazard and cause further
congestion.
o Pedestrians, carers, dog walkers and those walking with children cannot utilise
the pavements for much of a normal day from the junction with the A666 past
Ellerslie driveway due to inconsiderate parking, wheelie bins or overhanging
vegetation. Add on to this the increased traffic flow as it is currently, and this
hugely increases the risks of potential accidents.



The design of the proposed housing development
o The visual appearance of the houses is not in keeping with the historic
design of houses within the near vicinity and will add nothing to the
character of the area.



Working hours
o Is it to be assumed that monitoring will take place that any developers will
adhere to the working hours?
o Does this include that workers will not arrive at the site before 7.00am? What
arrangements are in place to ensure that any arrivals in vehicles before this
time will not be parking on the lane, particularly if the site is to be secured
with gates?

I hope that these points will be taken into consideration when making planning decisions and
that the Council will visit the area to get a true picture.

Page 41

Yours sincerely
BRIAN AND CHRISTINE CHAPPELL
Objection – Wendy Humphreys, Nether Greenlowe Farm, Duckshaw Road, Darwen.
Rec 01/08/19
Ref 10/19/0642: Erection of 22 houses at Ellerslie
I am writing to object to the application.
Firstly we note that outline permission for this development was given in June 2016 and the
application was referenced 10/15/1081. I have checked the neighbour consultation details for this
and my husband and I and our immediate neighbours were not consulted. We have been consulted
for application 10/19/0642. This means we had no opportunity to object to the initial application.
We would have objected on traffic grounds, we have to use Bury Fold Lane for all access to our
home.
There is no footpath on Bury Fold Lane, there is at one point a kerb and between the kerb and the
wall a very muddy path, muddy and impossible to walk on with overhanging branches limiting the
height to about 4 feet, clearly impossible to walk under. Widening the road by removing the kerb
and calling the extra road width thus made a footpath is clearly a nonsense. The reality is that
people walk in the middle of the road and move to the side when they hear a car. All these extra
houses will just mean more traffic and thus more need to step to the side. This is a very popular
footpath with walkers and cyclists. What about electric cars, their use is being encouraged but they
are very quiet and walkers may not hear them.
A major omission in the application is the consideration of access to the site via Astley Street. I know
the road at Ellerslie leads to Astley Terrace/Street as I have used it on two occasions with permission
of the owners when Bury Fold Lane was blocked. Astley Street is much wider than Bury Fold Lane
and has footpaths with proper raised kerbs; it has far less housing and is therefore much quieter
with a lot more spare capacity for vehicles than Bury Fold Lane and a wider access to the A666. Why
has this idea not formed part of the plan?
The traffic plan is misleading; the photographs have all been taken during the day when most people
are at work, from 5pm or thereabouts until the morning and at weekends there is very little parking
space left and very few places for vehicles to pass.
The assessment of traffic flows refers to Bury Fold as a road; it is not it is a Lane.
The Lane is referred to as a UAP4, “a busy high St”, it is not a busy high street, it is an access road to
approx. 45 dwellings, I use it regularly and have done for the last 30 years, I almost always have to
give way to other vehicles, an additional 24 houses would logically increase traffic flow by 50%.
Parking and loading is not unrestricted, it is always a problem.
There is no 2 way traffic, there is not enough width when vehicles are parked which they usually are.

Page 42

I would like my objections to be considered and an answer about why access via Astley Street, the
most logical solution, has not even been considered.
Prior to 2016 when the Housing Development Plan was first published almost every resident on Bury
Fold Lane went to a public meeting called by the then local Councillors, Mr and Mrs Foster, as I
remember everyone at that meeting was against this development because of the traffic problems
and although that was for 50 houses the problems remain the same. There is no support for this
development from the residents of Bury Fold Lane, it is just being imposed on us. There is a lot of
new development on Cranberry Lane and Pole Lane so these houses are not needed.
In cold and freezing weather Bury Fold Lane becomes impassable; people will just park on the A666
if they are concerned about getting out in the snow and that will increase problems there.
Yours faithfully
Wendy Humphreys

Objection – Mrs Hilary Midgley, 16 Bury Fold Cottages, Darwen. Rec 01/08/19
Dear Sir,
As a resident of Bury Fold I wish to object to the above named planning application on several
grounds.
Firstly, the appearance of the proposed houses are not in keeping with those in the immediate
surrounding area.
Secondly, deer regularly move through the Bury Fold area from the fields near the stream, across
Bury Fold Lane and onto Ellerslie land. The deer have been doing this for years. I worry what will
happen when building work starts and also when the houses are completed. This will cause loss of
habitat. Environmental needs should be paramount. Once the habitat is lost it will not be possible to
recover it. Is it worth it for the sake of 18 houses?
Thirdly, I object on the grounds of increased traffic on the lane. With 18 houses there are likely to be
upwards of 30 extra cars using Bury Fold Lane. This road is largely a single track road. It is hard
enough now to use it safely at peak times of the day. Residents further down the lane have no
option but to park on the pavement. This narrows the road considerably. The entrance/exit at the
junction with the A666 is too narrow and also made very dangerous by the parking of vehicles every
day on the immediate right and left of the junction. Whilst there have been no reported accidents as
people try to join the A666, this has been largely due to extreme vigilance on our part. This is a
dangerous junction, which, with increased traffic from the proposed development, will only get
worse. Furthermore, lots of people access Bury Fold Lane for recreation, especially walkers, cyclists,
runners and people riding horses. The safety of all these people needs to be considered very
carefully.
In the original planning application three years ago it was proposed that any development on the
land at Ellerslie must include road widening, the moving back of the retaining wall on the land
where it meets the lane. If this is still being considered, please could serious thought be given to the
amount of disruption this would cause for all residents, as well as for the emergency services,
deliveries and refuse collection. Recently Virgin Media, who were installing new cables up the length
of the lane as far as Low Hill House, caused serious disruption which meant that people were
delayed and missed important appointments. The risk to health should the ambulance not be able to

Page 43

move freely up and down the lane is extremely worrying, as is the risk to property if the fire brigade
cannot navigate the road easily.
Finally, I do appreciate that the borough needs new housing stock, but why not look at other sites
such as where Crown Paint and Wallpapers were situated at the bottom of the A666, near the
Circus? This site was partially developed a few years ago but the main part of the land remains
derelict. It is unsightly, casting a blight on the local area. Lots more houses, more than 18, could be
built here and this would enhance an already partially prepared site.
Ellerslie sits in a quiet residential area, away from the main road. It is peaceful and tranquil. It is
green and rural. Why spoil this for just 18 houses?
Yours sincerely
Hilary Midgley

Objection – Lynn & Derek Walsh, Ashdale Astley Bank, Darwen. Rec 26/07/19
Formal objection to the Outline Planning Permission Application (Access &
Reserved matters) for erection of 18 four and five bedroom dwellings within
the grounds of Ellerslie, off Bury Fold Lane, Darwen BB3 2QG
Application reference: 10/19/0642
My husband and I live in close proximity to the proposed housing development
within the grounds of Ellerslie. We formally object to the planned development
of a total of 18 houses for the following reasons.
1 Bury Fold Lane
 Bury Fold Lane is a very narrow country “quiet lane” – predominantly a
single track, with only 2 passing places and at least 2 blind corners. Due
to the historical nature of the lane, it has in essence become a single
carriageway in many areas due to the number of cars that are parked by
homeowners on a daily basis which makes passing difficult.
 There is already congestion at peak periods near the junction with the
main road which narrows to single carriage approximately 5 metres up
from the junction. The safety of the present road users of Bury Fold
Lane is a crucial consideration to any further plans for development. The
proposed widening of the lane further up will not help the problems at the
junction to the main road.




The road can be treacherous in the winter months.
Any widening of Bury Fold Lane would destroy its quiet historical and
attractive character.
According to the Highways Officer who attended the meeting held by
Councillor Foster, (02.06.16) there will only be an extra 30 vehicles using
the road at peak periods. I am since informed that the figures used are
from Capita’s own figures and not from some nationally agreed data. I

Page 44








2




suspect that a conservative estimate of approximately 50 extra cars
using the lane would be more likely. On top of that there will be the added
volume of traffic from additional service vehicles such as post/delivery
vans, bin collection etc.
The lane becomes part of Bridleway 79. Consideration needs to be given
to current cyclists, horse riders and dog walkers as well as other leisure
users of the lane.
The historical hamlets of Bury Fold and Printshop will be affected by any
further development to the lane.
Ellerslie had applied for planning permission to build houses before. From
those people that remember, there were issues about highway access
even in 1990 and applications were not passed.
Traffic through Darwen is very slow moving now as the main road
struggles to manage with the sheer volume of traffic. There is no
indication that the roads in the town will be able to cope.
Heritage Assets
It is documented that the land between the 2 houses were set as
parkland with private footpaths set between the 2 houses. (OS map of
area dated 1911). Both Ellerslie and Ashdale, being mill owners’ houses are
heritage assets although they are not listed. The heritage assets in the
area have already been changed by the new urban boundary. According to
Policy 39 p111 para. 1, the proposed building on land belonging to Ellerslie
must be called into question. The setting would be totally destroyed and
therefore the heritage value would be spoilt. If the setting is taken away,
then the heritage is ruined.
Once the trees lose their leaves, the landscape is very open and the
proposed very modern-look houses will be a detriment to the heritage
landscape. From Ashdale, it is true that little can be seen of Ellerslie
House, but then that is not the house in question! The field to the south
west of Ellerslie, which will have the majority of houses built on it, is very
visible from Ashdale and leaf coverage is only partial in Spring/Summer
and there is no coverage in Winter! The final sentence is incorrect from
the Design and Access Statement And Planning Policy Statement (The
Intelligent Design Centre).
They incorrectly state:
“2.3 The topography is such that the land in the wider vicinity falls down
to the north east towards the main road, but there is also a steep fall
across the property down to the north, towards the Kebbs Brook. The
brook has a small tributary that originates within the woodland. Land in

Page 45





other ownership rises again steeply on the opposite side of the brook,
which has the effect of creating a strong sense of enclosure within a
deep and wooded valley. The topography and the dense tree cover mean
that it is only possible to get glimpses of the house and grounds from
beyond the property boundary.”
Low Hill, a house that belonged to Samuel Crompton, is documented with a
blue historical plaque on Bury Fold Lane. Further traffic on the lane is a
detriment to this heritage asset.
From what can be seen from the plans, the proposed architecture of the
housing is not at all in keeping with the Victorian heritage of the area.
Indeed, The Intelligent Design Centre states the buildings should:
2.20 Paragraph 58 …..respond to local character and history, and reflect
the identity of local surroundings and materials, …….
Various quotes are taken from the REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR Plan No:
10/15/1081 with regard to the sympathetic nature needed in the design
of the proposed buildings if they are to reinforce the established
character of the locality. See below:
3.5.15 Policy 11 of LPP2 is of relevance and requires all new development
to
present a good standard of design and will be expected to demonstrate
a good understanding of the wider context and make a positive
contribution to the local area, including enhancing/ reinforcing the
established character of the locality.
3.5.19 The Design and Conservation Officer has raised concern to the
indicative layout provided. ……. Whilst the concerns of residents are
noted, it should be
recognised that the Development Opportunity Allocation prioritises
residential development of the site and that due to this impact on
character and setting cannot be avoided. Notwithstanding this, it is
considered that a scheme of development could be achieved which
respects the character of the locality.

3

5.9 Design and Conservation Officer
 ………. There is scope to …….. introduce cottage style buildings with
varying foot prints to reflect a more village character.
Perhaps if the houses were to be built in stone or even rendered in a
more sympathetic colour then these proposed buildings would be less
intrusive to this historical area.
Current Land Usage in the Area

Page 46










4

The current land between Ellerslie and Ashdale is a wild life corridor with
wild deer, bats, badgers and other creatures to be seen on a regular
basis. Any proposed development must be carried out in a sensitive
matter and should ensure that the openness of the countryside remains a
priority.
Indeed, the field opposite Ellerslie which belongs to Ashdale is
agricultural land as is the large field to the west belonging to Ellerslie.
With the West Pennine Moors which starts on the upper part of Bury
Fold Lane (according to the Local Plan Map) being a designated protected
area, it seems important that the surrounding landscape should be saved
to protect wildlife and to ensure that there is no loss of biodiversity.
Indeed, according to the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council’s
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) Update
2013, “The western edge of the site is adjacent to the West Pennine
Moors Policy LNC3. Saved policy LNC3 states that development proposals
that have an unacceptable impact on the landscape character, ecological
resource and recreational value of the West Pennine Moors will not be
permitted.” I consider the proposed building at Ellerslie will have a
profound impact on the landscape character and that it should therefore
not be permitted. The building of any modern, stark white housing would
be out of character with the countryside and will have a detrimental
effect on the recreational value of Bury Fold Lane.
Using Kebbs Brook as the new drainage outfall needs very careful
management to ensure that there is no further flooding down near the
main road. We own half of Kebbs Brook bed and there has been no
consultation with us over this matter.
Urban Boundary



5


The fact that Ellerslie has been put inside the urban boundary is in itself
very odd, as the house Ashdale which is situated across the valley to the
north west is not included in the proposed boundary. Historically, the 2
houses have been linked, as William Ashton a mill owner who built himself
a house - Ashdale, was a cousin of the owner of Ellerslie. William Ashton
is a well known historical figure and he has much written about him as he
was instrumental in freeing the moors for the good of the Darwen people.
Environmental Issues
Noise levels are currently very low in the area and they should be kept
that way as is fitting for the countryside and the adjacent designated

Page 47



protected area of the West Pennine Moors. The impact of 18 family
homes will not promote the current noise levels.
There are many houses that are currently on the market locally and there
is no guarantee that the houses will sell. Indeed, there is an undeveloped
site at Belgrave that has stood empty for several years as the projected
housing didn’t sell. The tremendous impact that this could potentially have
on this lovely area of Darwen is unthinkable should the proposed houses
stand empty or should the developer or builder encounter financial
difficulties.

I trust that you will consider that the suggestion of building on the grounds of
Ellerslie is not granted for all the reasons above.
Yours sincerely,
Objection – Keith Fenton, 17 Bury Fold Cottages, Darwen. Rec 26/07/19
Dear Sir Madam
Please take receipt of this email as an objection to the planning application as above.
The lane cannot cope with the extra traffic that these houses will create:1. The lane can only take single lane traffic all the way to the entrance to the A666.
Vehicles have to pull onto pavements for the passing vehicles to pass or reverse to a
wider spot where they can pass wait until the other has passed.
2. The original traffic census was not accurate as it was taken from Ellerslie and the
majority of the traffic is from the main road (A666) to Low Hill. We were advised
that this would be repeated and taken further down the lane to show the amount of
traffic the lane generates but this never happened that I am aware off.
3. Emergency vehicles struggle to get up the lane now which was proved when the
moors where on fire in 2015.
4. The junction of Bury Fold Lane and the A666 is already dangerous as you are unable
to see to pull out and if you are waiting to pull out other vehicles cannot turn into
Bury Fold and have to wait half stuck out into the main road (A666). I have before
now had to reverse back into the main road as I have been unable to get into Bury
Fold.

Objection – Fiona Fenton, 17 Bury Fold Cottages, Darwen. Rec 26/07/19
Dear Sir Madam
Please take receipt of this email as an objection to the planning application as above.
The lane cannot cope with the extra traffic that these houses will create:-

Page 48

1. The lane can only take single lane traffic all the way to the entrance to the A666.
Vehicles have to pull onto pavements for the passing vehicles to pass or reverse to a
wider spot where they can pass wait until the other has passed.
2. The original traffic census was not accurate as it was taken from Ellerslie and the
majority of the traffic is from the main road (A666) to Low Hill. We were advised
that this would be repeated and taken further down the lane to show the amount of
traffic the lane generates but this never happened that I am aware off.
3. Emergency vehicles struggle to get up the lane now which was proved when the
moors where on fire in 2015.
4. The junction of Bury Fold Lane and the A666 is already dangerous as you are unable
to see to pull out and if you are waiting to pull out other vehicles cannot turn into
Bury Fold and have to wait half stuck out into the main road (A666). I have before
now had to reverse back into the main road as I have been unable to get into Bury
Fold.

Objection – Andy Thorburn, The Barn, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. Rec 26/07/19

Page 49

Page 50

Objection – Ian & Patricia Embley, The Rock, Higher Bold Venture, Bury Fold Lane,
Darwen. Rec 25/07/19

Page 51

Page 52

Page 53

Objection – Gordon Barnett, Bury Fold Cottages, Bury Fold. Darwen. Rec 25/07/19

Objection – Sandra Barnett, Bury Fold Cottages, Bury Fold, Darwen. Rec 25/07/19

Page 54

Objection – R Chenery, 3 Bury Fold, Darwen. Rec 20/07/19
I would like to voice my objections to the above application as follows:








The area in question is more than simply a green space; it is an enclosed area, mostly
undisturbed by human activity. Deer make use of it, and certainly there will be other
wildlife enjoying sanctuary there. Houses, people, dogs, cats and vehicles would
destroy this. Enough wildlife is vanishing already; we must save as much as we can.
Will trees have to go?
How many of the houses will be 'affordable'?
Bury Fold Lane is of varying width, but for most of its length it is single track; often
drivers must reverse or mount the pavement to allow others free passage. It's no fun
meeting a commercial vehicle. I believe the 2015 application was approved subject
to road widening. Would this still apply? Even so, it would be limited in scope; there
are places where widening is not possible.
The junction of BFL and the A666 is difficult, not to say perilous, to negotiate; there
are times when one has to edge out as far as possible, and even then have no clear
view without actually being in the traffic. Yet we are told it isn't dangerous, as there
hasn't been an accident. Yet.
22 new houses would generate more than 22 new vehicles - 30? 35? 40? No-one
knows yet. If these buildings do come to pass then an extension of the yellow lines
on the main road are essential. (It would be nice, anyway, to see the removal of the
two-vehicle advertising sight-obstruction permanently parked in public spaces).

Objection – Gordon Barnett, Bury Fold Cottage, Darwen. Rec 19/07/19
After the first application it was decided by the Highways Dept that the application could not
proceed until the Road improvements had been completed. We have now received notification
that it is proceeding under the cover of the new application. Are the road improvements being
done before any progress is considered?
I have the impression that there is a move to get the road widening etc., cancelled. Is this so?
The greatest problem is actually the bottom end of the Lane. It will be vital to extend the yellow
lines. It is difficult to turn into the lane when someone is coming out. It is necessary to go on to
the footpath.
Gordon Barnett Bury Fold Cottage.

Objection – Ward Cllr Kevin Connor, Cllr Lilian Salton and Cllr Neil Slater. Rec
18/07/19
As referenced in the Highways Report; Bury Fold Lane is a single track road and essentially a
cul de sac in a semi-rural area, traffic impact would therefore be greater than on the standard
road network.
Whilst the data base used is a standard Highways and Transportation industry tool, in some
respects it can only be predictive and the actuality of the impact can be very different in such
circumstances as those in Bury Fold Lane.

Page 55

In Darwen South we have already seen the reality of the disruption and problems that can
occur with a single track road and one access. The Pole Lane development leading to Spring
Meadows has at times caused havoc for nearby residents with the road blocked, children late
for school, adults late for work and instances of missed appointments, added to this were hold
ups on the main highway and, at times extreme muddy conditions; all this and more despite
the best efforts of Planning Enforcement and councillors. Main point none of this was
predicted prior to construction. The traffic movement to and from Spring Meadows and
Moorland Court [44 properties], would not be much dissimilar to Bury Fold Lane [45
properties].
Emphasis is made that the Accident Review shows there have not been any accidents on Bury
Fold Lane in the last five years. This refers to recorded accidents only, when in fact some
bumps, scrapes and near misses are not recorded. The report admits width of the road varies
and goes on to say ‘there are opportunistic passing places along its length’, this surely implies
drivers have to be prepared to take risks.
Quote “Initially the junction with the A666 has a road width of 4.1 metres [13.5 feet] and
therefore sufficient to facilitate two way vehicle movement” A Ford Fiesta is 6 feet wide, a
standard HGV 8 feet 4 inches and a Range Rover Discovery 7 feet 2 inches; the caveat with
the statement should be sufficient width dependent on the type and make of vehicle.
Doubt has been cast, by residents, on the validity of the traffic flow measurements and
maintain that the actual traffic flow from and to the A666 is more than stated
Table 2 indicates that the maximum two way vehicle trips on the eastern end of the road will
increase from 41 to 63 [a 33% increase] and in passing areas will increase from 16 to 38 [a
50% increase], it then states that this is significantly lower than the 300 vehicle threshold. To
imagine a road such as Bury Fold Lane could cope with 299 vehicle trips and still be within
this threshold is clearly stretching credibility too far.
Only residents of Bury Fold Lane are aware of the real nature of their road and its hazards,
which they face day in day out.
The ecological report raises few concerns on the impact of this development on the local
environment. Question what has more of a detrimental impact on the local environment a
green field or 22 properties?
The report did not find much evidence of Badgers, Bats or Great Crested Newts but as it
made no mention of the deer that roam Ellerslie and the surrounding area, crossing Bury Fold
Lane through the entrance into the field opposite, perhaps their findings are hardly surprising.
This proposed development will not enhance or complement the area or environment, it will
not add a jot to the real housing needs of the borough, but it will remove yet another green
field that cannot be passed on to future generations and it will add significantly to the traffic
problems in Bury Fold Lane.

We object to this development and urge the committee to refusal.
If it is the committee’s decision to pass we urge the following, in the interest of residents who
will have to endure its impact.
 It was previously accepted that Bury Fold Lane should be widened; this should also
be a condition with this current application.
 The yellow lines on the A666 to the junction should be extended to improve the
sighting. Trust in residents local knowledge on this issue, they have campaigned long
and hard for this to be done, the current sight lines are inadequate.
 The traffic report states that traffic movements will be restricted to hours that would
not cause disturbance to the local area. Conditions should reflect this i.e Monday to
Friday no HGV movement before 09.00 or after 15.00. Saturday no HGV movement
before 09.00 or after 12.00. No Sunday working.

Page 56

 To prevent muddy conditions on the lane, wheel washing prior to lorry’s leaving the
site.
 Adequate parking space on site to accommodate lorry’s, to prevent blockage of the
lane.
 Safe passage way through site for deer.
Darwen South Councillor
Kevin Connor 18.07.2019
Also on behalf of Councillor Lilian Salton and Councillor Neil Slater
Objection – Mandy Ainsworth, 4 Moorgate Cotts. Darwen. Rec 17/07/19
With regards to this planning application I would like to express my concerns regarding what
would be an increase in traffic on Bury Fold Lane. However I think more of a problem is the
design of the houses which is not in keeping with the surrounding area/properties.
Yours Sincerely
Mandy Ainsworth
Objection - Hilary Duxbury & Nicolas S T Duxbury, Priory House, 5 Bury Fold,
Darwen. Rec 17/07/19
Please accept this letter as my formal objection to the above proposed
development.
My main cause for concern with this outline planning application is traffic and access.
The plans mention the proposed widening of Bury Fold Lane from above Ellen Street
but that will do nothing to alleviate the congestion from below Ellen Street leading
down onto the A666. The plans show 22 houses on the site, each with multiple
parking spaces creating up to 50 PLUS extra cars using the lane.
In a previous application for this site in 2016, a traffic survey was conducted. The
original traffic assessment commissioned by the applicants was flawed and
inaccurate and in no way truly represented the current traffic flow and access on
Bury Fold Lane. The survey point was placed directly outside the entrance to
Ellerslie where it comes out onto Bury Fold Lane. The placement of this point to
gather data for assessing the traffic flow on Bury Fold Lane is therefore completely
useless as the vast majority of vehicle movements take place below the survey point
where most of the properties that use the lane are situated. The figures and details
therefore within that report were not a true reflection of the daily traffic that comes up
and down the lane and cannot be relied upon. As far as I am aware, despite our
requests, no further traffic survey had been done. Can you confirm if this is to be
looked at again?
Bury Fold Lane can simply not support two way traffic. Even with the proposed
widening of the lane, it is totally impossible for two cars to travel in opposite
directions up and down the lane without the upward bound car having to mount the

Page 57

pavement to allow the other vehicle to pass. There is only one place, at the entrance
to Ellen Street, where two cars can be side by side, without having to mount the
pavement but at peak times and when cars are parked up half on the road/half on
the pavement, then even this is difficult. I am referring to cars in my previous
statement but the problems are magnified when any larger vehicles are concerned.
You may be aware that Bury Fold Lane serves farms and their vehicles (agricultural
& lorries) and these vehicles get into greater difficulties. In previous years, when
there have been fires on the moor, the Fire Brigade used Bury Fold Lane to gain
access. However, they couldn’t initially get up the lane due to traffic congestion. I
have also seen an ambulance struggle to get up the lane. There are potentially life
threatening consequences if emergency services cannot attend. If the proposed
development goes ahead and there are subsequently even more vehicles using the
lane, then it will obviously make this situation even worse.
In addition to the traffic congestion on the lane itself, the junction of Bury Fold Lane with the
A666 is dangerous. The A666 is an extremely busy road and vehicles exiting Bury Fold Lane
cannot see any traffic coming down the road (from the Bolton direction) due to parked cars
and vans/lorries. The double yellow lines by no way extend enough in order to give a clear
view. On many occasions, especially during morning rush hour, I have to edge out onto the
A666 inch by inch in order to see up the road to know if I can turn right. Whilst waiting to turn
out of Bury Fold Lane, nobody else can turn in as the lane will not allow for two way passing
traffic. I have also had to reverse back into oncoming traffic so as to not block the junction.
The situation is equally problematic trying to turn left out of Bury Fold Lane and for turning
into Bury Fold Lane from the A666.

These problems only escalate during the winter months when the Bury Fold Lane
can be treacherous. In snow, the lane is dangerous with cars skidding on compacted
ice and snow. The lane never gets gritted and the close proximately of cars parked
on the lane itself leaves a very small degree of error if your car skids. Again, the
additional traffic generated by the proposed new development will only make this
worse.
Bury Fold Lane also provides access to the moors and the surrounding countryside
for walkers, cyclists and horse riders. Parts of the lane have no pavement as it is,
and the increased volume of traffic will only make it even more difficult for
pedestrians and motorist to negotiate one another.
I am also extremely concerned about the felling of the very mature trees that would
be required in order to widen the lane. Isn’t this a green field site that ought to be
protected? The wildlife habitat will be destroyed. Often deer are spotted on Bury Fold
Lane crossing into neighbouring fields. All this proposed construction and additional
traffic could be devastating for the wildlife we love to see.
I trust I will be kept informed of ongoing developments regarding this outline planning
application.
Yours sincerely

Page 58

Objection – Stewart Penswick, 4 Low Hill, Darwen. Rec 12/07/19
I'm writing regarding the planning permission request to build 22 dwellings on land at
Ellerslie House, Bury Fold Lane, Darwen. To which the above reference refers.
I am totally opposed to this planned construction which will see total chaos on Bury Fold
Lane and hassle for all the neighbours. A good example being the houses being built on Pole
Lane. There has been non-stop roadworks, closing one and both lanes at times, and are totally
spoiling the view of all the residents on that road.
Bury Fold Lane is a one vehicle wide road for most of it, and apparently has been regarded
as not a busy road. My bedroom backs onto the road, so I know just how busy it can be.
Please reject this application on mine and everyone else's behalf.
Thanks,
Stewart Penswick, 4 Low Hill.

Page 59

Agenda Item 4.2
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0768

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Regulation 4) for Erection
of 5 No. workshop and storage units (Use Classes B1 and B8) including
associated servicing yard
Site address:
Roe Lee Business Park
Off Whalley New Road
Blackburn
BB1 9SU
Applicant: Mr E Yaseen
Ward: Roe Lee
Councillor Phil Riley
Councillor Sylvia Liddle
Councillor Ron Whittle

46

3

414

2

40
4

130.8m
451

394

GR
ET
NA
RO
AD

38

WH

4

AL

439

LE
YN
EW
RO
AD
37

42

7

2
362

415

Roe Lee New Mill

129.8m

391

403

360

379

Mast

Pa
th (u
m)

El Sub Sta

The
Farthings
Stone

(PH)

81

RO

SE

W
OO

D

AV

EN

UE

Page 60

79

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – subject to the recommended conditions set out in section
4.0 of this report.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The application seeks permission for five portal frame units on the land
between the East side of Roe Lee New Mill and the boundary of the site with
the railway line.

2.2

The site is presented to Planning and Highways Committee as a result of the
application site being within the Roe Lee Master Plan area in an area
allocated for housing development. The proposals are therefore considered
to be a Departure from the Development Plan.

2.3

Since the adoption of the Local Plan Part 2, the Council’s Growth Team have
advised that since the plan preparation time, the owners of the site have put
significant investment in to the mill and no longer wish to sell the site. The site
is therefore no longer available.

2.4

The area is considered to have an industrial nature with the site being suitably
located next to similar uses within the mill site. Therefore subject to all of the
recommended conditions, the proposals are considered to have an
acceptable impact on nearby residents and businesses, highway safety, flood
risk and the adjoining railway line and are also considered to be visually
acceptable.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site forms part of the Roe Lee New Mill site located off
Rosewood Avenue/ Campbell Street and is on land that exists between the
eastern elevation of the traditional mill building and the boundary of the site
adjoining the railway line. The land is currently hard surfaced with plainings.
3.1.2 Open land exists to the north of the mill site where the original Roe Lee Mill
was located prior to its demolition in 2016. To the east of the site the Railway
line and the rear of properties on Whalley New Road are present. The
Farthings Public House boarders the southern boundary of the site with
Campbell Street, its terraced properties and an area of open space located at
the western boundary of the site.
3.1.3 The Roe Lee New Mill site has two entrances, one to the north of the overall
site adjacent to the historic gatehouse to the mill and one at the south-west
corner of the site off Campbell Street. At the northern entrance is a historic
gatehouse, known as ‘Pemberton House’ which is occupied by people who
are not associated with the mill.

Page 61

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of five new portal frame
units on the area of land between the railway and the eastern side of the
traditional mill building.
3.2.2 The units proposed are for B1 (Business) and B8 (Storage and Distribution)
uses.
3.2.3 The proposed units are to be steel portal frame buildings clad and roofed in
steel-profile sheets; colour dark grey. The units are all attached and measure
approximately 67 metres overall by approximately 26 metres deep. The
eaves height of the units measure approximately 7 metres with the ridge
measuring approximately 10 metres.
3.2.4 Access to the units is from the entrance with the historic gatehouse closest to
Whalley New Road and the railway line.
3.2.5 Parking is to be to the northern side of the new units.

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 requires that
applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Core Strategy
Policy CS1: A Targeted Growth Strategy
Policy CS2: Typology of Employment Land
Policy CS5: Locations for New Housing
Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development
Policy CS17: Built and Cultural Heritage
3.3.3 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations
Development Management Policies (December 2015)
Policy 1: Urban Boundary Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport.
Policy 11: Design
Policy 16: Housing Land Allocations
3.3.4 Master Plan for Roe Lee Development Site (2016)
3.3.4.1 This masterplan document has been prepared in response to local plan
Policy 16/3 – Roe Lee Development Site. A key consideration of this policy is
that:

Page 62

“The site is to be brought forward in line with a masterplan to be produced
covering the whole of the allocation. The masterplan must be agreed by
the Council prior to the granting of planning permission for any part of the
site.”
3.3.4.2 The masterplan was adopted by the Council on 09 December 2016 and sets
out the housing and other allocations for the Roe Lee Development Site which
encompasses approximately 13 hectares.
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 The most relevant national policy and guidance is contained within:
 National Planning Policy Framework, updated February 2019
 Planning Practice Guidance, updated March 2019
3.4.2 The Legislation relevant to the proposals is as follows:




3.5

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

Assessment
Principle of Development

3.5.1 The application site is located within the former Roe Lee New Mill complex off
Campbell Street and Whalley New Road. The site is located within the
defined Urban Boundary, as identified on the Proposals Map associated with
the adopted Local Plan Part 2.
3.5.2 The Proposals Map and Policy 16 of the Local Plan Part 2 identifies the
application site and the wider Roe Lee area as a strategic housing site in
northern Blackburn and promotes its development as a key component in the
delivery of the Council’s strategy for housing and economic growth. The
application site is thus identified and allocated within the Roe Lee Master Plan
for housing under Policy 16/3.
3.5.3 At the time of the Local Plan adoption, the intention was for the whole Roe
Lee Development Site allocation to be released for housing at some point
over the Plan period as the then owners of the Mill had held discussions with
the Council about allocating the site for housing. The Roe Lee Masterplan
reflected this position. However, as can be the case with sites, the position on
this particular area of the allocation has since changed and the Roe Lee New
Mill site, to which this site forms part, is functioning as a thriving commercial
hub. The owners of the mill now wish to expand their business and as such it
is no longer available for housing and the Council’s Growth and Strategic
Planning teams have advised that the allocation on this site should not

Page 63

prevent the LPA from supporting this proposal as it is considered that the
proposals would not jeopardise the wider housing allocation.
3.5.4 At a national level, the general perspective from the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF/ The Framework) is that Planning should actively
encourage economic development.
3.5.5 Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) states:
“Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed
on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account
both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. …”
3.5.6 Paragraph 82 of the Framework advises;
“Planning policies and decisions should recognise and address the specific
locational requirements of different sectors.”
3.5.7 This includes, amongst other things, for storage and distribution operations
(B8 use) at a variety of scales and in suitably accessible locations.
3.5.8 Taking account all of the above policies, it is considered the proposals will not
harm the overall housing allocation of the Roe Lee Mill Development site and
will contribute to local economic growth.
3.5.9 The proposals seek retrospective permission for a mixture of uses falling
within the B1, B8 and D2 use classes. The B1 (Business) and B8 (Storage
and Distribution) uses complement the existing commercial use of the mill
complex. These uses are considered to be acceptable given both the existing
commercial use of the mill site and its industrial nature, and the national
encouragement for economic growth. Provided the units remain in a B1 or B8
use, which can be secured by condition, the proposals are acceptable in
principle and are supported by national and local employment policies.
Design and Visual Amenity
3.5.10 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 8 states;
“Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
i) it will, in isolation and in conjunction with other planned or committed
development, contribute positively to the overall physical, social,
environmental and economic character of the area in which the
development is sited;
3.5.11 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 11 requires all new development to “present a good
standard of design and will be expected to:
i) Demonstrate an understanding of the wider context; and,
ii) Make a positive contribution to the local area.

Page 64

3.5.12 The National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice
Guidance also require good design.
3.5.13 The units are to reflect the heights, design and appearance of the buildings
that would be opposite the units which are under consideration by application
10/19/0770. These are considered to be suitable for their purpose, akin to the
industrial/ business uses of the site and are satisfactory when viewed against
the western elevation of Roe Lee New Mill.
3.5.14 In views from the Railway Line and from the main road to the north of the site,
the new units would be seen against existing building form. There would thus
be a minimal impact on visual amenity and accordingly the proposals are
considered to accord with both Policy 8(i) and 11 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Local Plan Part 2.
Impact on nearby businesses and residents
3.5.15 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8ii) requires new development to;
“secure a satisfactory level of amenity and safety for surrounding uses and for
occupants or users of the development itself, with reference to noise,
vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, privacy / overlooking,
and the relationship between buildings.”
3.5.16 Paragraph 182 of the Framework states:
“Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development can be
integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such
as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing
businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on
them as a result of development permitted after they were established. Where
the operation of an existing business or community facility could have a
significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of use) in
its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required to provide
suitable mitigation before the development has been completed.”
3.5.17 In terms of nearby businesses, the Farthings Public House is located to the
south of the wider mill site. The units under consideration are positioned
towards the northern end of the site and are separated from The Farthings
Public House by the southern end of Roe Lee New Mill which contains a
number of small units. Given the industrial nature of the wider Roe Lee New
Mill site, and that the units have been occupied for at least 12 months without
complaint from this business, the retrospective proposals are considered to
have an acceptable impact on this business.
3.5.18 Moving on to the impact of the proposals on nearby residents; the site is close
to the occupiers of the historic Gatehouse, known as Pemberton House, the
terrace properties on Campbell Street and the residential dwellings located on
Whalley New Road, separated from the units by the railway line.

Page 65

3.5.19 It is important to ensure the amenity of both existing and future residents are
not compromised by development. This is particularly important given the
occupiers pf Pemberton House (the historic Gate House) are not associated
with the Mill.
3.5.20 Given the proximity of nearby residents, at the request of Officers, the
applicant has provided the Council with a residential amenity noise
assessment. The Public Protection team have assessed this and are satisfied
that subject to the recommended conditions requiring all work to be
undertaken within the units; no storage externally; that roller shutter doors be
mechanically operated; along with restricting post-11pm deliveries and
operations and the use class of the buildings are used solely for B1 and B8
purposes, that the amenity of nearby residents will not be significantly
harmed.
3.5.21 In respect of the impact on Pemberton House, whilst the occupants are not
associated with the Mill, the property does form the historic gate house for the
site. Occupants of this dwelling have therefore always lived in close proximity
to the workings of the mill and will continue to do so. Subject to conditions
ensuring no deliveries are made post 11pm and no operations are undertaken
within the units after this time, along with the other recommended conditions,
the proposals are considered to accord with the requirements of Local Plan
Part 2, Policy 8.
Parking and Highway Safety
3.5.22 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 10 concerns itself with highway safety.
3.5.23 In accordance with the adopted parking standards, based on a B2 Business
and B8 Warehousing and storage use, the Highway Authority is satisfied that
sufficient space exists within the site to accommodate sufficient and suitable
parking provision.
3.5.24 The Highway Authority on the whole is satisfied with the parking and layout of
the proposed development, and the manoeuvrability of vehicles within the site.
Of concern to them however is that an area has been set out on the plan
received for the parking of Powered Two Wheel vehicles (PTW’s) and cycles
where the location is not acceptable to the Highway Authority as they are
located to the rear of the proposed new units. The Highway Authority
consider that these spaces should be sited near the entrances to the units and
have requested that these are secured by condition together with details to be
provided to ensure they are covered and secure.
3.5.25 The amendments received resulted in changes to the parking layout to
incorporate disabled parking spaces. It is proposed that spaces 7, 8, 9, 10
are to be amended. In doing so there may be the loss of one or two spaces,
as the disabled bays are wider than the standards spaces. The Highway
Authority has requested a condition be imposed requiring a car parking layout
to be submitted for the site, incorporating the disabled bays to ensure that
sufficient and safe car parking is accommodated within the site.

Page 66

Access
3.5.26 Whilst no sightlines for vehicles and pedestrian sightlines have been provided
at the entrance the entrance has been used historically and has raised no
visibility issues given the wide pavement which exists between the northern
boundary of the site and the road, and the clear views existing in north and
west dorections. The existing access is therefore considered to be
acceptable.
3.5.27 The amended plan illustrates a pedestrian path is in front of the units, and this
is considered to be acceptable. However the connection from the highway is
not shown. This missing detail can be secured by condition to ensure that a
safe pedestrian path is continued from the highway up to each unit, such a
condition is therefore recommended.
Servicing
3.5.28 It is proposed that no articulated vehicles will visit the site, and this will be
controlled by condition, as the application does not provide a swept path for
these vehicles
3.5.29 Subject to the recommended conditions, the Highway Authority is satisfied
that the proposed units will not result in severe harm to highway safety. The
proposals are therefore considered to accord with Local Plan Part 2, Policy
10.
Drainage
3.5.30 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 9 concerns itself with Flood Risk. The Framework at
paragraph 148 also concerns itself with this matter.
3.5.31 United Utilities have advised that the submitted Surface Water Drainage
proposals are unacceptable and advise that following the surface water
hierarchy, surface water should be drained via infiltration systems/ soakaways
wherever possible, and that they expect to see evidence as to why infiltration
is not possible. They recommend that surface water drainage and foul water
drainage conditions are thus imposed. These conditions are recommended
and will also allow the applicant to ensure that the large diameter trunk main
that runs in close proximity to the site will not be undermined by the proposed
drainage strategy.
3.5.32 The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and therefore has a low risk of
flooding. Notwithstanding this, due to the application constituting Major
Development, the application is accompanied by a Surface Water Drainage
plan. The Council, who is the Local Lead Flood Authority, has assessed the
proposals and raises no objection, subject to the submitted details being
secured to ensure a safe development that would not cause flooding
elsewhere. Subject to the implementation of the submitted Surface Water
Management plan the proposals are considered to comply with Policy 9 of the
Local Plan Part 2 and the relevant policies within the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Page 67

Crime and Disorder
3.5.33 Paragraphs 91 and 95 of the Framework requires planning decisions to aim to
create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the
fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion’. Local
Plan Policy 8.v) also requires this;
“Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
v) the development incorporates positive measures aimed at reducing crime
and improving community safety, including appropriate detailed design, the
provision of adequate facilities for young people, and the creation of a suitable
mix of uses.”
3.5.34 In response to the comments from Lancashire Police Constabulary, the
applicant has submitted evidence of the extensive CCTV system within the
existing units at the site which will be installed in the proposed units and the
grounds surrounding them. The CCTV is monitored off-site and is used on
other sites within the applicants’ ownership.
3.5.35 Whilst CCTV on its own is not ideal, the units will be overlooked by the
existing units opposite and occupants of Pemberton House will also provide
natural surveillance by virtue of that properties position at the entrance to the
site.
3.5.36 In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development will be
consistent with the principles of the Framework and Local Plan Part 2, Policy
8 in terms of ‘designing out crime’ and has adopted the principles of Secured
by Design.
Summary and Conclusions
3.5.37 This report assesses the full planning application for 5 industrial units on a
parcel of land within the yard area of Roe Lee New Mill, accessed from both
Whalley New Road under the railway bridge and from Campbell Street.
3.5.38 In considering the proposal a wide range of material considerations have been
taken in to account during the assessment of the application.
3.5.39 It is concluded the proposal with associated parking provision on an existing
vibrant mill site occupied by a number of other business uses is acceptable
despite is allocation as a housing development site. The proposal is agreeable
with the policy requirements of the Blackburn with Darwen Core Strategy,
Local Plan Part 2, and the National Planning Policy Framework. Furthermore
the scheme is acceptable from a technical perspective, with all matters being
adequately addressed, or capable of being appropriately controlled via the
recommended planning conditions.

4.0

RECOMMENDATION

Page 68

4.01

Approve subject to:
Conditions which relate to the following:















Development carried out in accordance with submitted details/ drawing
nos.
Use Class Restriction to B1 and B8
Restriction of operating times
All work shall be undertaken within the units and not the open areas
surrounding the units
Hours of use restriction: The approved use shall be restricted to the
following times:
Monday to Saturday: 07:00 – 23:00 hours
Sundays/Bank Holidays: 09:00 – 21:00 hours
Deliveries to the premises shall be restricted to the following times:
Monday to Saturday:
08:00 – 21:00 hours
Sundays/Bank Holidays: 09:00 – 21:00 hours
Roller shutters must be electrically operated
Ground Contamination standard conditions
Submission of a Surface Water Drainage Scheme
Submission of a Fowl Water Drainage Scheme
Details of Car Park, including disabled bays), PTW and Cycle Layout
including design and appearance of PTW and cycle layout.
Provision of a safe pedestrian access to each unit from the adopted
highway.
No articulated vehicles to visit the site

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.01

The following is a table of the sites planning history:
APPLICATION
NUMBER
10/19/0768
10/05/0111
10/04/1094

10/02/0476
10/02/0379

DEVELOPMENT
DESCRIPTION
Erection of five new
units
Erection of a building
for mill storage
Regeneration of land
for mixed
employment and
residential
development(part
resubmission)
Proposed garage for
lorry parking
Erection of Industrial
(Class B2) and/or
Storage and

Page 69

DECISION

DATE

Under consideration
Approved

12/04/2005

Refused

06/01/2005

Dismissed at Appeal

15/12/005

Approved

08/08/2002

Refuse

23/09/2002

10/01/0245
10/00/0869

10/82/1036

10/82/0567
10/76/1809
10/76/0281
10/74/0998

Distribution (Class
B8) units using
existing access from
north
Proposed new roof in
profiled steel decking
Erection of portal
frame building to
replace existing north
light roof and change
of use from Use
Class B2 (Industrial)
to Use Class B8
(Storage)
Change of use to
manufacture of rosin
based chemicals
required by the paper
industry
Change of use to
storage
Extension and
alterations to existing
Dye House
Erection of Extension
and Alterations to
existing Dye House
Outline application
for erection of
extension to Dye
House

Approved

25/05/2001

Approved

09/01/2001

Approved

10/06/1982

Approved

15/04/1982

Approve

15/10/1976

Approved

12/03/1976

Approved

18/10/1984

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

The retrospective proposals constitute Major Development and have been
advertised both in the Press and by Site Notice as both a Major Development
and as a Departure from the Development Plan due to the Roe Lee
Development Opportunity allocation.

6.2

On receipt of the amended and additional information the application has
been re-advertised by in the Press, by Site Notice and by sending amended
plan letters to the neighbouring properties.
Neighbour Representations

6.3

52 individual letters were sent to the local residents. In addition, site notices
were posted, and a press notice advertised in the local newspaper. The same
local residents were consulted again on receipt of the amended site plan by
letter, site notices and in the local newspaper.

Page 70

As a result of both rounds of public consultation no representations have been
received from the public.
Statutory and Non-statutory Consultee Responses
6.4

Drainage/ LLFA – No objections subject to the recommended condition
requiring the surface water drainage system to be built in accordance with the
drawings and design by Flood Risk Consultancy Ltd, submitted with the
planning application.

6.5

Highways – No objections subject to the recommended conditions

6.6

Network Rail – No objections subject to the applicant meeting their
requirements

6.7

BwD Growth/ Forward Planning team – No objections

6.8

BwD Property Management – No objections

6.8

BwD Public Proetction – No objections subject to the recommended
conditions

6.9

BwD Refuse/ Waste Management – No objections

6.10

United Utilities – Objects to the submitted Preliminary Surface Water Drainage
Strategy (Ref: 2019- 101-01, dated 12/09/2019) we can confirm the proposals
are unacceptable in principle to United Utilities. Following the surface water
hierarchy surface water should be drained via infiltration systems/soakaways
wherever possible, so we would expect to see evidence as to why infiltration
is not possible. We request the suggested drainage conditions are attached
to any subsequent approval to reflect the above approach detailed above.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Booth MRTPI, Senior Planning Officer,
Development Management

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 06 January 2020

Page 71

Agenda Item 4.3
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0770

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Regulation 4) for
Retrospective Application to retain 11 units (Units 2 - 12) on Former Roe
Lee Mill site (Use Classes B1 and B8) with Unit 8 operating as a gym
(Use Class D2)
Site address:
Roe Lee Business Park
Off Whalley New Road
Blackburn
BB1 9SU
Applicant: Mr E Yaseen

414

k St

3

463

1

Haydoc

1

473

Ward: Roe Lee
Councillor Phil Riley
Councillor Sylvia Liddle
Councillor Ron Whittle

40
4

CAM

130.8m

LL

451

394

PB E

2 to 6

STREET

1
38

WH

4

AL

439

LE
YN
EW
RO
AD
37

42

7

2

2

Street

415

Roe Lee New Mill

403

2

ROE LEE

Mast

Pa
th (u
m)

El Sub Sta

The
Farthings
Stone

(PH)

101

Hardy

81

RO

SE

W

OO

D

Page 72
AV

EN

UE

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – subject to the recommended conditions set out in section
4.0 of this report.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The application is a retrospective application for 11 portal frame units on the
East side of Roe Lee New Mill. The units came to the Council’s attention in
July 2018 following reports that new buildings were being erected. An
application was received stating that only a new roof was being implemented,
as historically approved by application 10/01/0245. After much discussion
with the agent, the application now being considered seeks retrospective
permission for the units in their entirety.

2.2

The site is presented to Planning and Highways Committee as a result of the
application site being within the Roe Lee Master Plan area in an area
allocated for housing development. The proposals are therefore considered
to be a Departure from the Development Plan.

2.3

Since the adoption of the Local Plan Part 2, the Council’s Growth Team have
advised that since the plan preparation time, the owners of the site have put
significant investment in to the mill and no longer wish to sell the site. The site
is therefore no longer available.

2.4

The area is considered to have an industrial nature with the site being suitably
located next to similar uses within the mill site. Therefore subject to all of the
recommended conditions, the proposals are considered to have an
acceptable impact on nearby residents and businesses, highway safety, flood
risk and the adjoining railway line and are also considered to be visually
acceptable.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site forms part of the Roe Lee New Mill site located off
Rosewood Avenue/ Campbell Street.
3.1.2 Open land exists to the north of the mill site where the original Roe Lee Mill
was located prior to its demolition in 2016. To the east of the site the Railway
line and the rear of properties on Whalley New Road are present. The
Farthings Public House boarders the southern boundary of the site with
Campbell Street, its terraced properties and an area of open space forming
the western boundary.
3.1.3 The Roe Lee New Mill site has two entrances, one to the north of the overall
site adjacent to the historic gatehouse to the mill and one at the south-west
corner of the site off Campbell Street. At the northern entrance is a historic

Page 73

gatehouse, known as ‘Pemberton House’ which is occupied by people who
are not associated with the mill.
3.1.4 The units erected abut the eastern elevation of the mill building.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 The application seeks retrospective permission for 11 portal frame units on
the East side of Roe Lee Mill operating in B1 (Business) and B8 (Storage and
Distribution) uses. One of the units is also operating as a Gym. A gym use
falls within the D2 Use Class.
3.2.2 The units erected are steel portal frame buildings clad and roofed in steelprofile sheets; colour dark grey. The units are all attached and measure
approximately 67 metres overall by approximately 26 metres deep. The
eaves height of the units measure approximately 7 metres with the ridge
measuring approximately 10 metres.
3.2.3 Access to the units is from the entrance with the historic gatehouse closest to
Whalley New Road and the railway line.
3.2.4 Parking is to be to the front of each unit and along the east facing wall of the
traditional mill.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 requires that
applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Core Strategy
Policy CS1: A Targeted Growth Strategy
Policy CS2: Typology of Employment Land
Policy SC3: Land for Employment Development
Policy CS5: Locations for New Housing
Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development
Policy CS17: Built and Cultural Heritage
3.3.3 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations
Development Management Policies (December 2015)
Policy 1: Urban Boundary Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport.
Policy 11: Design
Policy 16: Housing Land Allocations
3.3.4 Master Plan for Roe Lee Development Site (2016)

Page 74

3.3.4.1 This masterplan document has been prepared in response to local plan
Policy 16/3 – Roe Lee Development Site. A key consideration of this policy is
that:
“The site is to be brought forward in line with a masterplan to be produced
covering the whole of the allocation. The masterplan must be agreed by
the Council prior to the granting of planning permission for any part of the
site.”
3.3.4.2 The masterplan was adopted by the Council on 09 December 2016 and sets
out the housing and other allocations for the Roe Lee Development Site which
encompasses approximately 13 hectares.
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 The most relevant national policy and guidance is contained within:
 National Planning Policy Framework, updated February 2019
 Planning Practice Guidance, updated March 2019
3.4.2 The Legislation relevant to the proposals is as follows:




3.5

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

Assessment
Principle of Development

3.5.1 The application site is located within the former Roe Lee New Mill complex off
Campbell Street and Whalley New Road. The site is located within the
defined Urban Boundary, as identified on the Proposals Map associated with
the adopted Local Plan Part 2.
3.5.2 The Proposals Map and Policy 16 of the Local Plan Part 2 identifies the
application site and the wider Roe Lee area as a strategic housing site in
northern Blackburn and promotes its development as a key component in the
delivery of the Council’s strategy for housing and economic growth. The
application site is thus identified and allocated within the Roe Lee Master Plan
for housing under Policy 16/3.
3.5.3 At the time of the Local Plan adoption, the intention was for the whole
allocation to be released for housing at some point over the Plan period as the
then owners of the Mill had held discussions with the Council about allocating
the site for housing. The Roe Lee Masterplan reflected this position. However,
as can be the case with sites, the position on this this particular area of the
allocation has since changed and the Roe Lee New Mill site, to which this site
forms part, is functioning as a thriving commercial hub. The owners of the mill

Page 75

now wish to expand their business and as such it is no longer available for
housing and the Council’s Growth and Strategic Planning teams have advised
that the proposals are acceptable from their perspective as it is considered
that the proposals align with national policies which support the expansion of
existing businesses and will jeopardise the wider housing allocation.
3.5.4 Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) states:
“Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed
on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account
both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. …”
3.5.5 Paragraph 82 of the Framework advises;
“Planning policies and decisions should recognise and address the specific
locational requirements of different sectors.”
3.5.6 This includes, amongst other things, for storage and distribution operations
(B8 use) at a variety of scales and in suitably accessible locations.
3.5.7 The proposals seek retrospective permission for a mixture of uses falling
within the B1, B8 and D2 use classes. The B1 (Business) and B8 (Storage
and Distribution) uses complement the existing commercial use of the mill
complex. These uses are considered to be acceptable given the existing
commercial use of the mill site.
3.5.8 The Unit (Unit 8) in which a Gym is operating is an exception. Gym uses fall
within a D2 use class and are usually located within Town and District Centres
by virtue of their nature. Whilst the existing business within Unit 8 (The FitMill)
is operating without issue this should not be allowed in the long-term as other
uses falling within a D2 use class would undermine the vibrancy of this
commercial/ industrial area the industrial nature of the locality. Thus once the
current gym (The Fit Mill) ceases using Unit 8 it is recommended a condition
be imposed requiring the unit to be used for either a B1 or B8 uses purposes.
Provided such a condition is imposed, the proposals are acceptable in
principle and are supported by national and local employment policies.
Design and Visual Amenity
3.5.9 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 11 requires all new development to “present a good
standard of design and will be expected to:
i) Demonstrate an understanding of the wider context; and,
ii) Make a positive contribution to the local area.
3.5.10 The National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice
Guidance also require good design.
3.5.11 The units abut the western elevation of Roe Lee New Mill and sit below the
traditional mill building. In views from the Railway Line and from the main

Page 76

road to the north of the site, the units are thus seen against the existing
building form. There is thus minimal impact on visual amenity and accordingly
the proposals are considered to accord with both Policy 8(i) and 11 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.
Impact on nearby businesses and residents
3.5.12 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8ii) requires new development to;
“secure a satisfactory level of amenity and safety for surrounding uses and for
occupants or users of the development itself, with reference to noise,
vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, privacy / overlooking,
and the relationship between buildings.”
3.5.13 Paragraph 182 of the Framework states:
“Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development can be
integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such
as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing
businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on
them as a result of development permitted after they were established. Where
the operation of an existing business or community facility could have a
significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of use) in
its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required to provide
suitable mitigation before the development has been completed.”
3.5.14 In terms of nearby businesses, the Farthings Public House is located to the
south of the wider mill site. The units under consideration are positioned
towards the northern end of the site and are separated from The Farthings
Public House by the southern end of Roe Lee New Mill which contains a
number of small units. Given the industrial nature of the wider Roe Lee New
Mill site, and that the units have been occupied for at least 12 months without
complaint from this business, the retrospective proposals are considered to
have an acceptable impact on this business.
3.5.15 Moving on to the impact of the retrospective proposals on nearby residents;
the site is close to the occupiers of the historic Gatehouse, known as
Pemberton House, the terrace properties on Cambell Street and the
residential dwellings located on Whalley New Road, separated from the units
by the railway line.
3.5.16 The units under consideration were completed in July 2018. The Council’s
Business Rates section advises the units have been occupied since JuneDecember 2018. It is noted that at the time of writing this report, neither the
Council’s Development Management team or the Public Protection team have
not received any complaints from local residents relating to the units since the
buildings were erected.
3.5.17 The units are currently operating as follows:

Page 77

Unit No.

Use

Date 1st Occupied

2

Storage (B8 Use)

15th October 2018

3

Storage (B8 Use)

17th June 2018

4

Storage (B8 Use)

1st December 2018

5

Storage (B8 Use)

1st November 2018

6

Workshop (B1 Use)

1st November 2018

7

Storage (B8 Use)

9th July 2018

8

Gym (D2 Use)

1st June 2019

9

Storage (B8 Use)

9th July 2018

10

Storage (B8 Use)

1st September 2018

11

Storage (B8 Use)

26 June 2018

12

Workshop (B1 Use)

1st October 2018

3.5.18 It is important to ensure the amenity of both existing and future residents are
not compromised by development. This is particularly important given the
occupiers pf Pemberton House (the historic Gate House) are not associated
with the Mill.
3.5.19 Given the proximity of nearby residents, at the request of Officers, the
applicant has provided the Council with a residential amenity noise
assessment. The Public Protection team have assessed this and are satisfied
that subject to the recommended conditions requiring all work to be
undertaken within the units; no storage externally; that roller shutter doors be
mechanically operated; along with restricting post-11pm deliveries and
operations, the buildings are used for B1 and B8 use class purposes, the
amenity of nearby residents will not be significantly harmed.
3.5.20 In respect of the impact on Pemberton House, whilst the occupants are not
associated with the Mill, the property does form the historic gate house for the
site. Occupants of this dwelling have therefore always lived in close proximity
to the workings of the mill and will continue to do so. Subject to conditions
ensuring no deliveries are made post 11pm and no operations are undertaken
within the units after this time, along with the other recommended conditions,
the proposals are considered to accord with the requirements of Local Plan
Part 2, Policy 8.
Parking and Highway Safety
3.5.21 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 10 concerns itself with highway safety.

Page 78

3.5.22 In accordance with the adopted parking standards, based on a B2 Business
and B8 Warehousing and storage use. The local parking requirements based
on floor area is 23 spaces, 24 spaces have been provided. Although recorded
in the Transport Statement there is no provision for disabled space or cycle
parking. No consideration has been given to PTW spaces.
3.5.23 The layout and orientation of the bays presented is acceptable, conforms to
the council size, and dimensions.
3.5.24 The Highway Authority on the whole is satisfied with the parking and layout of
the proposed development, and the manoeuvrability of vehicles within the site.
Of concern to them however is the following matters:
3.5.25 An area has been set out on the plan received for the parking of Powered Two
Wheel vehicles (PTW’s) and cycles. The location is not acceptable to the
Highway Authority as they are located to the rear of the new proposed units
forming part of application 10/19/0768, currently under consideration. The
Highway Authority consider that these spaces should be sited near the
entrances to the units and have requested that these are secured by condition
together with details to be provided to ensure they are covered and secure.
3.5.26 Changes are proposed to the parking layout to incorporate disabled parking
spaces. It is proposed that spaces 7, 8, 9, 10 will be amended. In doing so
there may be the loss of one or two spaces, as the disabled bays are wider
than the standards spaces. The Highway Authority has requested a condition
be imposed requiring a car parking layout to be submitted for the site,
incorporating the disabled bays.
Access
3.5.27 Whilst no sightlines for vehicles and pedestrian sightlines have been provided
at the entrance the entrance has been used historically and has raised no
visibility issues given the wide pavement which exists between the northern
boundary of the site and the road and clear views exist in both north and west
directions. The existing access is therefore considered to be acceptable.
3.5.28 The amended plan illustrates a pedestrian path is in front of the units, and this
is considered to be acceptable. However the connection from the highway is
not shown. This missing detail can be secured by condition to ensure that a
safe pedestrian path is continued from the highway up to each unit, such a
condition is therefore recommended.
Servicing
3.5.29 It is proposed that no articulated vehicles will visit the site, and this will be
controlled by condition, as the application does not provide a swept path for
these vehicles
3.5.30 Subject to the recommended conditions, the Highway Authority is satisfied
that the continued use of the units will not result in severe harm to highway

Page 79

safety. The retrospective proposals are therefore considered to accord with
Local Plan Part 2, Policy 10.
Drainage
3.5.31 Local Plan Part 2 Policy 9 concerns itself with Flood Risk. The Framework at
paragraph 148 also concerns itself with this matter.
3.5.32 The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and therefore has a low risk of
flooding. Notwithstanding this, due to the application constituting Major
Development, the application is accompanied by a Surface Water Drainage
plan.
3.5.33 United Utilities have advised that the Surface Water Drainage proposals for
this development and that being considered under application 10/19/0678 are
unacceptable and advise that following the surface water hierarchy, surface
water should be drained via infiltration systems/ soakaways wherever
possible, and that they expect to see evidence as to why infiltration is not
possible. They recommend that surface water drainage and foul water
drainage conditions are thus imposed. These conditions are recommended
and will also allow the applicant to ensure that the large diameter trunk main
that runs in close proximity to the site will not be undermined by the proposed
drainage strategy.
Air Quality
3.5.34 The site is within an industrial area, close to traditional terrace housing.
Paragraph 181 of the Framework requires:
“Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards
compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants,
taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean
Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.
Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified …”
3.5.35 Officers of Public Protection have suggested that as a result of the application
containing no information relating to air quality, that a condition requiring an
assessment of total emissions that take account this development proposal
and the retrospective proposals at the site, relating to those under
consideration as part of application 10/19/0768, be submitted and include
mitigation against any identified harm. This condition is duly recommended.
3.5.36 In addition to the above, it is also recommended that an electric vehicle
charging points be installed on all units to ensure the development contributes
to a low carbon future. Such a condition is included in the list of
recommended conditions.
Crime and Disorder
3.5.37 Paragraphs 91 and 95 of the Framework require planning decisions to aim to
create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the

Page 80

fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion’. Local
Plan Policy 8.v) also requires this;
“Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
v) the development incorporates positive measures aimed at reducing crime
and improving community safety, including appropriate detailed design, the
provision of adequate facilities for young people, and the creation of a suitable
mix of uses.”
3.5.38 In response to the comments from Lancashire Police Constabulory, the
applicant has submitted evidence of the extensive CCTV system within the
existing units at the site which will be installed in the proposed units and the
grounds surrounding them. The CCTV is monitored off-site and is used on
other sites within the applicants’ ownership.
3.5.39 Whilst CCTV on its own is not ideal, the units will be overlooked by the
existing units opposite and occupants of Pemberton House will also provide
natural surveillance by virtue of that properties position at the entrance to the
site.
3.5.40 In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development will be
consistent with the principles of the Framework and Local Plan Part 2, Policy
8 in terms of ‘designing out crime’ and has adopted the principles of Secured
by Design.
Summary and Conclusions
3.5.41 This report assesses the full planning application for 5 industrial units on a
parcel of land within the yard area of Roe Lee New Mill, accessed from both
Whalley New Road under the railway bridge and from Campbell Street.
3.5.42 In considering the proposal a wide range of material considerations have been
taken in to account during the assessment of the application.
3.5.31It is concluded the proposal with associated parking provision on an mill site
occupied by a number of other business uses is acceptable despite is
allocation as a housing development site. The proposal is agreeable with the
policy requirements of the Blackburn with Darwen Core Strategy, Local Plan
Part 2, and the National Planning Policy Framework. Furthermore the scheme
is acceptable from a technical perspective, with all matters being adequately
addressed, or capable of being appropriately controlled via the recommended
planning conditions.

4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.01

Approve subject to:
Conditions which relate to the following:

Page 81



















Development carried out in accordance with submitted details/ drawing
nos.
Use Class Restriction to B1 and B8
Use Class Restriction for Unit * should D2 (Gym) use cease
Restriction of operating times
All work shall be undertaken within the units and not the open areas
surrounding the units
Hours of use restriction: The approved use shall be restricted to the
following times:
Monday to Saturday: 07:00 – 23:00 hours
Sundays/Bank Holidays: 09:00 – 21:00 hours
Deliveries to the premises shall be restricted to the following times:
Monday to Saturday:
08:00 – 21:00 hours
Sundays/Bank Holidays: 09:00 – 21:00 hours
Roller shutters must be electrically operated
Ground Contamination standard conditions
Submission of a Surface Water Drainage Scheme
Submission of a Fowl Water Drainage Scheme
Details of Car Park, including disabled bays), PTW and Cycle Layout
including design and appearance of PTW and cycle layout.
Provision of a safe pedestrian access to each unit from the adopted
highway.
No articulated vehicles will visit the site
Assessment of Total Air Emissions
Electric Vehicle Charging Points

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.01

The following is a table of the sites planning history:
APPLICATION
NUMBER
10/19/0768
10/05/0111
10/04/1094

10/02/0476
10/02/0379

DEVELOPMENT
DESCRIPTION
Erection of five new
units
Erection of a building
for mill storage
Regeneration of land
for mixed
employment and
residential
development(part
resubmission)
Proposed garage for
lorry parking
Erection of Industrial
(Class B2) and/or
Storage and
Distribution (Class

Page 82

DECISION

DATE

Under consideration
Approved

12/04/2005

Refused

06/01/2005

Dismissed at Appeal

15/12/005

Approved

08/08/2002

Refuse

23/09/2002

10/01/0245
10/00/0869

10/82/1036

10/82/0567
10/76/1809
10/76/0281
10/74/0998

B8) units using
existing access from
north
Proposed new roof in
profiled steel decking
Erection of portal
frame building to
replace existing north
light roof and change
of use from Use
Class B2 (Industrial)
to Use Class B8
(Storage)
Change of use to
manufacture of rosin
based chemicals
required by the paper
industry
Change of use to
storage
Extension and
alterations to existing
Dye House
Erection of Extension
and Alterations to
existing Dye House
Outline application
for erection of
extension to Dye
House

Approved

25/05/2001

Approved

09/01/2001

Approved

10/06/1982

Approved

15/04/1982

Approve

15/10/1976

Approved

12/03/1976

Approved

18/10/1984

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

The retrospective proposals constitute Major Development and have been
advertised both in the Press and by Site Notice as both a Major Development
and as a Departure from the Development Plan due to the Roe Lee
Development Opportunity allocation.

6.2

On receipt of the amended and additional information the application has
been re-advertised by in the Press, by Site Notice and by sending amended
plan letters to the neighbouring properties.
Neighbour Representations

6.3

52 individual letters were sent to the local residents. In addition, site notices
were posted, and a press notice advertised in the local newspaper. The same
local residents were consulted again on receipt of the amended site plan by
letter, site notices and in the local newspaper.

Page 83

As a result of both rounds of public consultation no representations have been
received from the public.
Statutory and Non-statutory Consultee Responses
6.4

Drainage/ LLFA – No objections subject to the recommended condition
requiring the surface water drainage system to be built in accordance with the
drawings and design by Flood Risk Consultancy Ltd, submitted with the
planning application.

6.5

Highways – No objections subject to the recommended conditions

6.6

Network Rail – No objections subject to the applicant meeting their
requirements

6.7

BwD Growth/ Forward Planning team – No objections

6.8

BwD Property Management – No objections

6.8

BwD Public Proetction – No objections subject to the recommended
conditions

6.9

BwD Refuse/ Waste Management – No objections

6.10

United Utilities – Objects to the submitted Preliminary Surface Water Drainage
Strategy (Ref: 2019- 101-01, dated 12/09/2019) we can confirm the proposals
are unacceptable in principle to United Utilities. Following the surface water
hierarchy surface water should be drained via infiltration systems/soakaways
wherever possible, so we would expect to see evidence as to why infiltration
is not possible. We request the suggested drainage conditions are attached
to any subsequent approval to reflect the above approach detailed above.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Booth MRTPI, Senior Planning Officer,
Development Management

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 06 January 2020

Page 84

Agenda Item 4.4
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/0973

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Retention
of single storey rear extension with a decrease in height of 150mm
Site address:
2 Eldon Road
Blackburn
BB1 8BE
Applicant: Mr Sajid Ibrahim

166

CROM

Ward: Shear Brow & Corporation Park
Councillors:
Cllr Hussain Akhtar
Cllr Suleman Khonat
Cllr Zainab Rawat

33

1

193

42

62

O
32

BE
RD

181

SFO

60

154

RE

21

RO

15

22

AD
23

11

152

20

1

169

12
ST
JA
ME
S

46

8

CO

19

T

15

UR

2
8

11

15
11

5
3

AD

2

O
NR

1

S TO

2

25

WIN

14

12

10

1

8

157

39

21

17

150

189.9m

34

27

6

18

2

ESS

14

25

132

The Nas
28

23

137

1

80

N

RO

AD

19

DO

76

EL

127

121

21

27
26

35

23

19

97

1

17

101

38

Page 85

CARLTON ROAD

107

14

46

13

66

111

18

17

115

21

70

180.1m

5
1
2

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

Approve subject to the recommended conditions.

2.0

KEY ISSUES

2.1

This planning application is presented to Committee through the Chair Referral
scheme, as a result of the land ownership dispute between the owner of 2
Eldon Road and the owners of 157 Shear Brow, and the objections received
from the owners of No.157 Shear Brow.

2.2

Due to the receipt of the neighbour objection from the owners of 157 Shear
Brow which raise both land ownership issues and residential amenity issues, as
summarised at paragraph 6.1, below, the key issues to be addressed are as
follows:
•
•
•

The impact of the development upon the character and appearance of
the surrounding area
The impact of the retrospective development on the amenity of nearby
residents; and,
The impact the proposed development will have on the existing street
parking

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site is a red brick end terrace property located on a corner plot
at the junction of Eldon Road and Shear Brow.
3.1.2 The Principal Elevation of the property faces on to Eldon Road with the gable
elevation facing Shear Brow. The rear north facing elevation of the dwelling
faces the gable of no. 157 Shear Brow. The rear boundary of the application
site is the residential curtilage and the gable wall of this neighbouring property.
3.1.3 Notwithstanding the extension currently under consideration, which has been
erected at the property, the property has been subject to a two-storey side
extension, a front porch and rear mono-pitch kitchen extension. All these
additions are present.
3.1.4 The property also has a vehicular entrance from Shear Brow which is secured
by a roller shutter door built in to the roadside boundary of the site.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 A previous retrospective planning application was made for the existing
extension in February 2019 under LPA Ref: 10/19/0107. This application was
subsequently withdrawn over concerns the local planning authority raised
regarding the dispute over the land ownership boundary and loss of amenity to
the neighbouring property, 157 Shear
Brow.
Page
86

3.2.2 The application before the Committee offers minor changes to this withdrawn
scheme, including a small reduction in the height of the extension present and a
new brick faced rear and side walls. It also offers sufficient evidence to satisfy
the Council’s Legal Department that the Certificate ‘A’ accompanying the
application is correct for the purposes of determining this planning application.
The application submitted an independent Boundary Report prepared by
Thomas V Shaw Ltd. Members should note that the Council does not arbitrate
on land ownership disputes.
3.2.3 Retrospective permission is sought for a single storey extension to the rear of
the property with a flat parapet roof with roof lantern, albeit with the overall roof
height dropped by 150mm.
3.2.4 The extension sits aside the previous kitchen extension and projects from the
rear elevation in an ‘L’ shape by approximately 7.6m. The widest part of the
extension is the end closest to 157 Shear Brow. This measures approximately
6.35m. The height of the proposed altered extension is to be approximately 3.0
metres, 0.15m lower than the extension as built, with the glass roof lantern
projecting an additional 400mm.
3.2.5 The extension is constructed in facing brick to the elevations facing Shear Brow.
The side of the extension closest to No. 4 Eldon Road and the rear of the
extension close to No. 157 Shear Brow are both finished in concrete block. The
drawings indicate these elevations are to be faced with matching brick.

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 requires that
applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations
Development Management Policies (December 2015)
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport.
Policy 11: Design
3.3.3 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document Revised Edition
(September 2012)
RES E1: Materials
RES E7 Rear extensions
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 The most relevant national policy and guidance is contained within:
• National Planning Policy Framework, updated February 2019
• Planning Practice Guidance, updated March 2019

Page 87
3.4.2 The Legislation relevant to the proposals
is as follows:

•
•
•
•
3.5

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

Assessment
Design and visual amenity

3.5.1 Local Plan part 2 Policy 11 requires all new development to “present a
good standard of design and will be expected to:
i) Demonstrate an understanding of the wider context; and,
ii) Make a positive contribution to the local area.
3.5.2 The extension is somewhat unusual in its inverted ‘L’ shaped design.
It is constructed of brick and has a flat parapet roof with glass roof
lantern.
3.5.3 When viewing the proposals from inside the site, the height of the
extension exceeds that of the single storey kitchen extension which
has a mono-pitch roof by approximately 200mm. This appears
somewhat discordant.
3.5.4 Due to the existing boundary fencing and roller shutter garage door;
there are only partial views of the rear extension from Shear Brow.
The visual impact of the extension is therefore localised and is mainly
seen when approaching the property from Shear Brow when travelling
downhill in a southerly direction, where the corner of the extension is
seen from the immediate street scene.
3.5.5 It is noted that the brick used in the construction of the extension does not
match the brickwork of the original property nor the kitchen extension, however,
given there are no mid-long range views of the extension there is minimal harm
to the street scene.
3.5.6 Members should note that the external faces of the extension on the shared
boundaries of Nos. 4 Eldon Road and 157 Shear Brow are not finished and are
currently concrete block. The submitted drawings indicate these will be faced
with matching brick. Should Members be minded to approve this retrospective
application, this proposed finishing should be completed and this can be
secured by the recommended condition. Members should note that such
matters can usually be undertaken within 3 months of any decision, however,
given the land ownership dispute between the applicant and the owners of 157
Shear Brow, a more realistic timeframe of 6 months for the applicant to address
the party wall issues is considered to be a more realistic timeframe for the
finishing works to be undertaken.
3.5.7 Subject to the above recommended condition, the retrospective proposals are
considered to be acceptable from a design and visual amenity perspective.

Page 88

Residential Amenity
3.5.8 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8ii) requires new development to “secure a satisfactory
level of amenity and safety for surrounding uses and for occupants or users of
the development itself, with reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust,
other pollution or nuisance, privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between
buildings.”
3.5.9 The extension under consideration abuts a rear single storey extension and the
side boundary of No. 4 Eldon Road and is located within 2.0 metres of the gable
elevation of No. 157 Shear Brow.
3.5.10 In respect of the impact on the occupiers of 4 Eldon Road, the extension at the
application site sits along the shared boundary of this property. In addition, this
property has a single storey rear porch extension close to the boundary of the
extension and therefore, given a porch is not a habitable room the extension
causes no significant harm to these neighbours.
3.5.11 In respect of the impact on the occupiers of No.157 Shear Brow, this property is
located to the north of the site and is within 2.0 metres of the extension being
considered. A ground floor window exists which forms a secondary window to
this neighbours kitchen-diner room.
3.5.12 The agents acting on behalf of the owners of 157 Shear Brow assert that the
south facing window is the only window serving the applicants kitchen-diner.
The case officer has re-visited the neighbouring property, and confirms it was
evident that the kitchen-diner is served by two windows, the south facing
window on the gable, and a larger window on the rear west facing rear
elevation. As this is the case, it is considered that the occupier of No.157 Shear
Brow will not suffer from a significant loss of light to their kitchen-diner.
3.5.13 The representation made also advises that the extension, which is within 2
metres of a south-facing window, adversely affects the neighbours outlook from
their kitchen-diner. At this affected window the neighbours’ kitchen sink exists.
The existing outlook from this window is towards the rear elevations of the
properties on Eldon Road. Members are advised that a fence/means of
enclosure could be erected along the boundary up to a height of 2 metres from
the ground on which it is erected under permitted development.
3.5.14 It is acknowledged that the extension has resulted in a loss of outlook from this
window, however, in considering applications due consideration must be given
to the permitted-development fall-back position when considering applications
as the Courts have ruled on a number of occasions a fall-back position has
material weight. Permitted Development allowances, as defined within the Town
& Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order 2015, as amended,
should thus be taken in to account.
3.5.15 Permitted Development allowances would allow the applicant to erect both an
extension and an outbuilding up to this neighbouring boundary (taking into
account other criteria) without the need for planning permission. Outbuildings,
where they are within 2 metres of a boundary can be erected up to 2.5m high.
The drawings indicate that the extension is approximately 2.90m high;
therefore, Members have to assess the 400-500mm height difference in terms
Page 89
of the impact on the adjoining property.

3.5.16 No.157 Shear Brow is positioned at a slightly higher level than the application
site. The drawings accompanying the application indicate that the height
difference is approximately 600mm, thus showing the height of the extension to
be approximately 2.4 metres. Therefore, whilst the overbearing impact of the
extension on this window is fully recognised and Officers are sympathetic to the
neighbour, the fall-back position must be taken in to account.
3.5.17 Due to the fall-back position and the fact that two windows serve the kitchendiner, with the west facing window on the rear elevation of No.157 Shear Brow
being the larger of the two and not affected by this extension, it is considered
that that there are no strong grounds to justify resisting the application.
Highway Safety
3.5.18 The representation received states that the proposed extension results in an
increase in on-street parking as the extension occupies space formerly used for
parking purposes.
3.5.19 The Highway Authority acknowledges the representation made, however,
considers that there are no strong highway safety reasons to warrant refusal of
the application on this ground.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.01

Approve subject to:
Conditions which relate to the following conditions:
• Facing of the external walling with materials to match the existing within
6 months of the date of permission.
• Development completed in accordance with submitted details/ drawing
nos.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.01

The following is a table of the sites planning history:
APPLICATION
NUMBER
10/19/107
10/17/1410
10/02/0986
10/02/0354

DEVELOPMENT
DESCRIPTION
Retention of single storey rear
extension
Proposed first floor rear
extension over existing kitchen
Erection of 2 storey side
extension and rear dormer
Erection of two storey side
extension and rear dormer

Page 90

DECISION

DATE

Withdrawn

12/09/2019

Withdrawn

24/01/2018

Approved

02/01/2003

Refused

02/07/2002

6.0

CONSULTATIONS
Neighbour Representations

6.01

7 neighbours were consulted about the application. 1 letter of objection and 8
letters of support have been received.

6.02

The letter of objection is from the owner of 157 Shear Brow who raises the
following concerns:
•

•
•

•
•

The Applicant has undertaken unauthorised works within the boundary of
no. 157 Shear Brow, including the removal of the neighbouring raised
flower beds. Moreover, the proposed red facing brick to be added to the
extension would involve further trespass and building work undertaken
via our Client’s property (no. 157 Shear Brow).
The proposed extension leads to an unreasonable loss of residential
amenity by virtue of outlook and an important source of light to our
Client’s kitchen-diner
Contrary to the claims of the Agent, the proposed extension well exceeds
any work which can be carried out under the provisions of Schedule 2,
Part 1 of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development (England) Order 2015 (or previous Order). There is no fallback position to be considered in the determination of the current
application.
The amount of development on site significantly exceeds the maximum
amount of built development that can be accommodated without a
harmful impact on local character
Increase in on-street parking

6.03

The full objection letter, written on behalf of the neighbour by PWA Planning
Planning Consultants is appended to this report for Members to consider.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Booth MRTPI, Senior Planning Officer

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 03 January 2019

Page 91

9.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Support - Sajid Bhola, 132 Shear Brow, Blackburn. Rec – 20/12/2019
To Claire Booth and Gavin Prescott
We are happy with the planning application - Retention of single storey rear extension
As stated in my letter which was sent in October
We also don’t have any issues with currant building Height at
2 Eldon Road
Blackburn
Yours faithfully
Sajid

Support - Ismail Mulla, 136 Shear Brow, Blackburn. Rec – 20/12/2019
To Claire Booth and Gavin Prescott
We are happy with the planning application - Retention of single storey rear extension
We also don’t have any issues with currant building Height at
2 Eldon Road
Blackburn
Reference: 10/19/0973
Ismail Mulla
136 Shear Brow
Blackburn
BB1 8DZ
Yours faithfully
Mr Mulla

Support - Altaf Ismail, 138 Shear Brow, Blackburn. Rec – 16/12/2019
To Claire Booth
Gavin Prescott
I am happy with the planning application for no 2 Eldon Road which is accross the road from my house.
Retention of single storey rear extension.
I don't have any issues with the current building height.
NO NEED TO DECREASE THE BUILDING IN HEIGHT
Yours faithfully
Altaf ismail

Support - Ajit Vali, 4 Eldon Road, Blackburn. Rec – 13/12/2019
Retention of single storey rear extension
Ref : 10/19/0973
FAO : Claire Booth - Gavin Prescott and Martin Kelly
We have No issues with the planning application
I am happy with the building extension
No problems with the current height
Ajit Vali
Page 92
4 Eldon ROAD

Support - Yaqub Bhola, 132 Shear Brow, Blackburn. Rec – 06/11/2019

Support - Mrs A Chew, 140 Shear Brow, Blackburn. Rec – 29/10/2019

Page 93

Objection to LPA Ref: 10/19/0973

2 Eldon Road
Blackburn
BB1 8BE
Retention of single storey rear extension with a decrease in height of 1500mm

OBJECTION STATEMENT
November 2019

Page 94

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

REPORT CONTROL
Document

Objection Statement

Project

2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Client

Mohsina Sadathlawala

Job Number

19-673

File storage

Z:\Client files\19-639 to 19-900\19-673 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn\4.
Second Objection Letter

Document Checking
Primary Author:

Joe Davis

JD

Matthew Wyatt

MW

Contributor:
Reviewer:

Revision Status
Issue

Date

Status

Checked for issue

1

08/11/2019

Draft

Yes

2

11/11/2019

Final

Yes

3
4

Page / 1

Page 95

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

CONTENTS
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1

INTRODUCTION

2

SITE CONTEXT

3

LAND OWNERSHIP MATTERS

4

PLANNING POLICY

5

GROUNDS OF OBJECTION

APPENDIX 1: COPY OF APPEAL DECISION APP/A2335/D/11/2154800

Page / 2

Page 96

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

PWA Planning has been instructed by Mrs. Mohsina Sadathlawala, to provide
professional planning advice following the submission of a retrospective planning
application that affects their property at no. 157 Shear Brow, Blackburn, BB1 8DZ. This
Objection Statement has been prepared based on our findings.
Objections are raised on the following grounds:
□

To erect the extension, the Applicant has undertaken unauthorised works within
the boundary of no. 157 Shear Brow, including the removal of the neighbouring
raised flower beds. Moreover, the proposed red facing brick to be added to the
extension would involve further trespass and building work undertaken via our
Client’s property. The Applicant should have consequently submitted a full
planning application (and not householder application) with the red edge
increased to include the land within the boundary of the neighbouring property
and serving formal notice on the owner of our Client.

□

The development description states the extension is to be reduced in height by
1500mm (1.5 metres). This is clearly not reflected in the submitted plans. It has
been assumed in this Objection Statement that the Applicant indeed meant a
reduction in height by 150mm (15 centimetres). The application is therefore
void, given the specific, incorrect reference to the height within the description
of development.

□

The proposed extension leads to an unreasonable loss of residential amenity by
virtue of outlook and an important source of light to our Client’s kitchen-diner.
Contrary to the claims of the Agent, this is a habitable room and reference is
made to an appeal decision which proves this to be the case.

□

Contrary to the claims of the Agent, the proposed extension well exceeds any
work which can be carried out under the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1 of The
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development (England)

Page / 3

Page 97

Order

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

2015 (or previous Order). There is no fall-back position to be considered in the
determination of the current application.
□

The amount of development on site significantly exceeds the maximum amount
of built development that can be accommodated without a harmful impact on
local character.

□

The proposed extension is likely to lead to an increase in on-street parking.

PWA Planning strongly believe that in its current form, the planning application is void
and cannot be determined. Assuming that errors within the description of development
and plans are eventually addressed, planning permission must nevertheless be refused
due the resulting loss of residential amenity for the occupants of No. 157 Shear Brow,
the impact on local character and appearance and increased pressure generated for
on-street parking.

Page / 4

Page 98

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

/1

INTRODUCTION

1.1.

PWA Planning is retained by Mrs. Mohsina Sadathlawala, who is the owner of the
property at no. 157 Shear Brow, Blackburn, BB1 8DZ, to advise and progress a formal
objection to the ‘Retention of single storey rear extension with a decrease in height of
1500mm’ at 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn, BB1 8BE (Ref: 10/19/0973).

1.2.

The unauthorised works undertaken by or on behalf of the Applicant have caused the
occupants great distress, having encroached onto and been works on their land without
permission. The works have moreover resulted in a significant loss of residential
amenity.

1.3.

This Statement will provide further details regarding the application and site context,
prevailing planning policies and set out grounds of objection. The Local Planning
Authority (LPA) is strongly encouraged to refuse planning permission and pursue
immediate enforcement action against the unauthorised development.

Page / 5

Page 99

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

/2

SITE CONTEXT

2.1.

The householder planning application under LPA Ref: 10/19/0973 relates to no. 2 Eldon
Road, Blackburn, BB1 8BE. The property is an end-terrace that fronts Eldon Road. To
the rear is no. 157 Shear Brow.

2.2.

The amount of built development at the planning application site has clearly been
increased significantly in the past. Notwithstanding the current, proposed extension,
the property has been subject to a two-storey side extension, a front porch and rear
extension. The Council’s online planning application search facility only shows that
permission has only be approved for the side extension in January 2003 under LPA Ref:
10/02/0986.

2.3.

By virtue of the location of an extension to a principle elevation, their height and the
proximity to curtilage boundaries, these are unlikely to have been constructed under the
provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1 of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development (England) Order 2015 (or previous Order). These elements are
consequently worthy of further investigation by the LPA as a potential form of
unauthorised development. Nevertheless, buildings erected within the site exceed 50%
of the residential curtilage.

2.4.

A previous retrospective planning application was made for the existing extension in
February 2019 under LPA Ref: 10/19/0107. This application was subsequently
withdrawn over concerns the LPA raised regarding the dispute over the land ownership
boundary and losses of amenity to the neighbouring property owned by our Client at
157 Shear Brow. The application now been submitted offers minor changes to this
withdrawn scheme, including a small reduction in the height of the extension and a new
brick faced rear wall.

2.5.

When measuring the submitted plans however, it is quickly apparent that the description
of development is however massively incorrect, stating a proposed reduction in the
height of the extension by 1500mm (1.5 metres) and the LPA is requested to urgently

Page / 6

Page 100

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

address this matter. It is assumed that the Agent for the application was supposed to
specify 150mm (15 centimetres).
2.6.

Beyond the rear boundary of the planning application site is the residential curtilage and
gable wall of the Objector’s property at no. 157 Shear Brow. Before the Applicant
entered their neighbour’s land without authorisation to remove an area of landscaping
(discussed further below), the dwelling was separated by fencing, an area of flower beds
and a footway to the rear garden.

2.7.

The gable wall of no. 157 Shear Brow (facing towards the proposed extension) features
the only window serving the kitchen-diner for the property. This serves as the main
source of natural light to the habitable room. As a south-facing opening, the daylight
provides an important source of amenity for the occupants.

2.8.

It is apparent that an outbuilding is also present to the rear of no. 4 Eldon Road, which
is located to the east of the planning application site. This outbuilding is accessed via a
back-street from Beresford Road.

2.9.

It is worthy of note that the wider surroundings comprise mostly terraced residential
properties. The vast majority of these do not benefit from private car parking spaces.
Thus, there is already a high demand for on-street car parking in the locality, which
generates a wider loss of amenity for many residents.

Page / 7

Page 101

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

/3

LAND OWNERSHIP MATTERS

3.1.

The Applicant has provided a Boundary Report detailing the extent of the boundary
between no. 157 Shear Brow and no. 2 Eldon Road. The report details the position of
the boundary line based on a conveyance from 1937. The boundary dispute does not
technically fall under the remit of planning, constituting instead a civil legal matter and
it is understood that our Client has also enlisted the support of a solicitor to help resolve
this matter. It is however very important for the application to acknowledge the
trespassing which has occurred and development taken place on our Client’s land
without permission.

3.2.

The submitted ‘existing’ and ‘proposed’ plans (Drawing no. 01 and PL01E) are
inconsistent with the boundary line established within the Boundary Report, which runs
across the very edge of the rear point of the extension compared with a gap which
exists between the extension and boundary in the submitted plans. The plans are
therefore prepared incorrectly and do not provide an accurate representation of the
established boundary line between the properties. The additional area of land lies
within the ownership of the occupants of no. 157 Shear Brow and no authorisation has
been granted for their neighbour to construct within their curtilage.

3.3.

Furthermore, the Applicant has undertaken work within the curtilage of no. 157 Shear
Brow in order to construct the extension, which is not represented through the
submitted plans. The works have included the removal of the existing boundary fence,
the complete removal of their raised flower beds, replacement with hardstanding and
the construction of a new boundary fence but in a different. No explanation is offered
regarding these works and nor is there a denial within the submitted supporting
information. However, it is assumed that works have been undertaken within the
curtilage of no. 157 Shear Brow for structural reasons to facilitate the proposed
extension.

Page / 8

Page 102

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Figure 1: Remanence of the Flower Beds and Unauthorised Hardstanding

3.4.

It is assumed that for the Applicant to install the proposed red brick facing and reduce
the height, the Applicant will need to trespass onto our Client’s land again to complete
the development.

3.5.

Notwithstanding the fact that the submitted plans are consequently inaccurate and do
not truly reflect the development as built, the red edge of the site location plan should
be extended to truly reflect that land affected by the development. This must include
the area of replacement hardstanding shown in Figures 1 and 2.

3.6.

It is not possible to submit a householder application which includes third party land
(nor is it possible for the LPA to determine it). As such, the current application must
be forcibly withdrawn by the LPA, with a ‘full’ application submitted and Certificate B
served on the owners of no. 157 Shear Brow, as required through The Town and

Page / 9

Page 103

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
Failure to undertake these actions will leave any decision open to Judicial Review.

Figure 2: Extent of Unauthorised Hardstanding Installed by the Applicant

3.7.

In light of the above, the owners of no. 157 Shear Brow and PWA Planning do not see
a way that the current application can be determined in its current form. Nor would
the approval of the submitted plans grant consent for what has actually been
constructed.

Page / 10

Page 104

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

/4

PLANNING POLICY

4.1.

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that where
making any determination under the Planning Acts, regard is to be had to the
Development Plan. Determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

4.2.

In this instance, relevant documents which form the statutory Development Plan for
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council comprise the Core Strategy (2011) (CS), the
Local Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Polices (2015)
(SADMP) and the Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2012)
(SPD). The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (the Framework) must also be
recognised as a policy document which is relevant to all development proposals.

4.3.

Also, given references made by the Agent to case law and the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
(GPDO), it is relevant to run through relevant provisions for the extension of dwellings.

Development Plan Policies
4.4.

CS Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development, sets out how the Council will
require new development to be of a high standard of design, and to respect and
reinforce local character. Particular attention must be paid to all of the following:
i.

Character

ii.

Townscape

iii.

Public realm

iv.

Movement and legibility

v.

Sustainability

vi.

Diversity

vii.

Colour

Page / 11

Page 105

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

4.5.

SADMP Policy 11: Design, expands upon each of the above criterions to ensure that
new development proposals demonstrate an understanding of the wider context and
makes a positive contribution to the local area.

4.6.

Chapter 4 of the Residential Design Guide SPD focuses specifically upon extensions to
existing dwellings; confirming how in determining planning applications, the Council
will also assess (amongst other considerations):

4.7.

□

Any loss of privacy;

□

Overshadowing;

□

Overbearingness

□

Physical design and size of a structure and materials;

□

Loss of daylight or sunlight;

□

Highway issues; and

□

Character and distinctiveness

Under RES E1: Materials, it is expected that materials used in residential extensions
match those used in the existing property.

4.8.

Through RES E3: Separation Distances, it is stated that where windows of habitable
rooms face a blank gable or wall with only windows to non-habitable rooms, the Council
will normally expect a separation distance of no less than 13.5 metres to be maintained.

4.9.

RES E5: Over Development, details that residential extensions that result in over the
development of plots will not be acceptable. Extensions will only be considered
acceptable in terms of Local Plan policy where they do not compromise the ability of
the property to:
1. Function without impacting on neighbouring properties and infrastructure in the
surrounding area.
2. Meet its own servicing requirements in terms of:

Page / 12

Page 106

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

□

Bin storage

□

Carrying out maintenance to the property

□

Parking

□

General use of outdoor space including drying of washing, storage of
equipment and so on.

3. Safeguard the health of residents in respect of light and air.
4.10.

RES E7: Rear Extensions, furthermore, details that any proposals for rear extensions
to properties will be required to meet the following criteria:
i.

The extension is subordinate to the original house;

ii.

The design of the extension is in keeping with the existing property by virtue
of:

iii.

□

Materials

□

Overall architectural style

□

Roof form and pitch

□

Size, proportion and position of openings

□

Fenestration details; and

The extension will not have an unacceptable impact on neighbours with respect
to the separation distances outlined in the general requirements above.

4.11.

RES E19: Extensions and Parking, also sets out that any proposals for extensions to
properties which may affect the provision of parking within the property curtilage or
generate a requirement for additional parking will be required to meet the following
criteria:

Page / 13

Page 107

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

i.

The development provides for adequate parking within the property curtilage
with respect to the Council’s adopted parking standards and will not result in
an unacceptable increase in on street parking.

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (The Framework)
4.12.

Chapter 12 of the Framework seeks the achievement of well-designed places. At Para
124 it states how:
“The creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and
development process should achieve. Good design is a key

aspect

of

sustainable

development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development
acceptable to communities”.

4.13.

Para 127 goes on to detail that planning decisions should ensure that developments
(amongst other considerations):
□

Will function well and add to the quality of the area;

□

Are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and layout; and

□

Create places that deliver a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users.

4.14.

The Framework goes on at Para 130 to confirm that permission should be refused for
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any
local design standards in supplementary planning documents.

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted

Development)

(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (GPDO)
4.15.

Schedule 2, Part 1 of the GPDO details forms of permitted development that can occur
(i.e. without the need for planning permission) within the curtilage of a dwelling house.

Page / 14

Page 108

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Under Class A (A.1) it is confirmed that the enlargement, improvement or other
alteration of a dwelling house is not permitted if:
(b)

as a result of the works, the total area of ground covered by buildings within the curtilage
of the dwellinghouse (other than the original dwellinghouse) would exceed 50% of the
total area of the curtilage (excluding the ground area of the original dwellinghouse);

(f)

subject to paragraph (g), the enlarged part of the dwellinghouse would have a single
storey and—
(i)

extend beyond the rear wall of the original dwellinghouse by more than 4 metres
in the case of a detached dwellinghouse, or 3 metres in the case of any other
dwellinghouse, or

4.16.

A.1 (g) allows for the construction of larger extensions, subject to the owner applying
for the Prior Approval of the local planning authority. The provisions do not however
allow for this to be undertaken retrospectively.

4.17.

Schedule 2, Part 2, A.1 allows for the construction of boundary walls and fences where
the height does not exceed 2m above ground level.

Relevant Appeal Decisions
4.18.

Supporting documentation submitted by the Agent claims that a kitchen-diner does not
form a ‘habitable room’. As such, it is implied that the LPA should attribute less material
weight to the amenity of adjacent occupants. In doing so, the Agent references the
Council’s ‘Residential Design Guide’ (2012).

4.19.

The Residential Design Guide however refers specifically to kitchens. In this instance
the window affected serves a kitchen-diner which is an important area of habitable
activity for the occupants. The LPA are therefore fully justified in assessing cases on
their individual merits, with the term ‘Guide’ allowing scope for flexibility depending on
site-specific circumstances.

Page / 15

Page 109

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

4.20.

Notwithstanding the Council’s Residential Design Guide, Appendix 1 of this Statement
provides a copy of Appeal Decision Ref: APP/A2335/D/11/2154800. The decision
relates to a site that is outside of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough but relating to
the potential impact of a proposed residential extension on neighbour amenity; in
particular, the loss of outlook, light and overbearingness experienced from a window
serving a kitchen-diner.

4.21.

At Para 5 of the Decision Letter, the Inspector states:
The proposal would impinge upon the enjoyment of the use of the ground floor kitchen diner,
a habitable room in No.120 Broadway from which I was able to view the appeal site during my
inspection; its window directly faces the north west side of the appeal dwelling.

4.22.

The conclusions of the Inspector represent an important material consideration which
must be taken into account.

Page / 16

Page 110

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

/5

GROUNDS FOR OBJECTION

5.1.

As explained above, works previously undertaken and proposed encroach onto third
party land, with the removal of flowerbeds and replacement with hardstanding. The
height of the proposed extension, as referenced in the description of development does
not reflect that which is shown on the plans. The application is therefore invalid and
void, and the LPA is encouraged to take action to ensure these matters are addressed.

5.2.

Notwithstanding these critical matters, this Chapter demonstrates why planning
permission should nevertheless be refused.

Revised Height Reduction
5.3.

The description of development states that the extension is to be reduced in height by
1500mm (1.5 metres), with the extension having a revised total height of 2930mm from
ground level. No measurements are given on the existing heights of the extension, but
when comparing the existing and proposed elevations, it is clear only a very small
reduction has been made to the extension and not the 1500mm (1.5 metres) as claimed
in the development description. The Applicant has therefore misdirected themselves
and provided a false and misleading description of the proposed development. PWA
Planning believe that the description of development is meant to read 150mm (15
centimetres).

5.4.

The submitted section plans also provide misleading ground levels, indicating the
extension lies at a significantly lower level than the neighbouring property at 157 Shear
Brow. This gives one the impression that the proposed extension is less overbearing
than is the case and acts to further mislead the LPA on the true scale of the proposed
development in relation to the neighbouring property.

Page / 17

Page 111

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Loss of Residential Amenity
5.5.

The proposed extension has been constructed in proximity of the southern gable wall
of no. 157 Shear Brow. This features a ground floor window that serves the kitchendiner.

5.6.

The submitted Cover Letter which accompanies the application states a kitchen is not a
habitable room, referring to the Council’s Residential Design Guide. This document
however makes no reference to kitchen-diners being a non-habitable room. Nor does
it prevent the LPA from assessing the impact of proposals on their individual merits.

5.7.

The kitchen-diner serving no. 157 Shear Brow in fact forms an active part of the dwelling
and is in regular use by the occupier’s family. Thus, it should be considered a ‘habitable
room’.

5.8.

Further

support

is

offered

through

a

relevant

Appeal

Decision,

Ref:

APP/12335/D/11/2154800, a copy of which is provided at Appendix 1 of this Statement.
This was dismissed on the grounds that “the proposal would impinge upon

the

enjoyment of the use of the ground floor kitchen diner, a habitable room”, as is the
case in this similar proposal.
5.9.

The window is moreover the only opening that serves the kitchen-diner and given its
position facing towards the sun, is an important source of natural light for the
occupants.

Page / 18

Page 112

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Figure 1: Photographs of the Extension from the Kitchen Window of no. 157 Shear Brow

5.10.

The impact of the extension on this opening as a source of amenity can be clearly seen
from the above photographs, taken from inside of the property. The small reduction in
the height of the extension, as now proposed, would have a negligible improvement on
neighbour amenity.

5.11.

This is still unacceptable for our Client, with the reduction offered considered merely a
token amendment to the design (assuming that the reference to 1500mm in the
description of development is incorrect). As proposed, the extension will continue to
generate an unreasonable loss of amenity by virtue of losses of natural light,
overbearingness and outlook towards a tall, blank wall which is well above the height
of a standard fence. Indeed, the position of the extension is well below the
recommended separation distance of 13.5 metres, set out under RES E3 of the
Residential Design Guide SPD.

5.12.

The Applicant proposes to complete the current breeze-block wall with a brick finish.
However, this would involve further works on our Clients land, which is not acceptable.

Page / 19

Page 113

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

5.13.

Whilst it has not been possible for PWA Planning to access no. 4 Eldon Road, it is noted
that this property already has an outbuilding to the rear. Given the relatively small
nature of the residential curtilage, it is thus expected that the occupants of this property
will also experience a loss of amenity and overbearingness due the sense of enclosure
that the extension generates.

Design and Over Development
5.14.

Chapter 2, above, explains that notwithstanding the current proposal, the application
site has already been subject to several extensions, including a two-storey side
extension and single storey extensions to the front and rear of the property. Although
not represented through the submitted site-location plan, it is clearly the largest in
terms of the amount of built development within the terrace of dwellings from nos. 2 –
6 Eldon Road. Extensions cover well over 50% of the residential curtilage.

5.15.

Given the size of the residential curtilage and the relationship with the surrounding built
environment, it is the opinion of PWA Planning that the proposed extension now
significantly exceeds the maximum amount of built development that can be
accommodated without a harmful impact on local character. The extension as built has
led to the overdevelopment of the site, with the minimal changes now put forward
having no real impact on reducing the impact.

5.16.

The design of the extension is also bland, particularly to the north, which affects the
amenity of the occupants of no. 157 Shear Brow. It is perceived that the extension
should feature a broader range of materials, rather than just red-brick, to complement
the existing property and enhance local character.

Permitted Development
5.17.

The Cover Letter submitted as part of the application makes reference to various works
which could be carried out Permitted Development (PD). The points raised are however
incorrect and misleading.

Page / 20

Page 114

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

5.18.

Firstly, the Applicant refers to the ability to build a 2-metre-high wall or fence at the
boundary of the site. However, as per Schedule 2, Part 2, A.1 of the GPDO, this must
be measured from ground level at the boundary. The proposed section drawings show
the wall of the proposed extension at a height of 2.93m, which is massively above that
of any boundary wall that could be erected in this location under permitted
development. Moreover, the proposal is to erect an extension to the property and not
a boundary wall. It should be treated as such.

5.19.

The submitted Cover Letter also refers to the ability of the Client to build an outbuilding
under PD up to the boundary wall with a maximum height of 2.5m. As above, this is
irrelevant given that the application relates to an extension to a home and not an
outbuilding. Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the GPDO applies and not Class E.

5.20.

The provisions of Class E nevertheless do not allow outbuildings where the total area
of ground covered by existing buildings exceeds 50% of the total area of the curtilage;
as is the present case. Nor do they permit outbuildings greater than 2.5m where they
are located within 2m of the boundary.

Parking and Highways
5.21.

It is perceived highly unlikely that as a result of the extension, the Applicant would
continue to use their rear curtilage for the parking of a vehicle. There would be little
option but for the occupants to park on-street, which would contribute to existing
pressures that exist in the locality.

5.22.

Notwithstanding this matter, the dwelling at no. 2 Eldon Road is already a large
property. It is perceived that the further extension (which includes the provision of an
additional bedroom) is likely to generate a need for the parking of another private
vehicles due to the increase in occupants, either now or in the future. This further
demand for on-street parking would exacerbate the present situation, resulting in a loss
of amenity for the wider area, as well as generating concerns for highway safety.

Page / 21

Page 115

OBJECTION STATEMENT
Ref: 10/19/0973 - 2 Eldon Road, Blackburn

Conclusions
5.23.

In addition to the issues surrounding land ownership, the omission of third party land
from the red edge and the encroachment into the curtilage of the neighbouring
property, it has been demonstrated the planning application fails to adhere to CS Policy
CS16, SADMP Policy 11, Residential Design Guide SPD Policies RES E1, RES E3, RES E5,
RES E7 and RES E19. It is a form of poor design and as per the instruction of Chapter
12 of the Framework, planning permission should be refused. It has been demonstrated
that there is no fall-back position under the provisions of the GPDO and with reference
to an appeal decision, a kitchen-diner should be regarded as a habitable room.

5.24.

The LPA is moreover encouraged to pursue swift enforcement action against the
Applicant, with the re-instatement of both their land and third party residential curtilage.

Page / 22

Page 116

Page / 23

Page 117

APPENDIX 1:

COPY OF APPEAL DECISION
APP/A2335/D/11/2154800

Page 118

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 25 July 2011
by R M Barker BEng(Hons) CEng MICE FCIHT
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 2 August 2011

Appeal Ref: APP/A2335/D/11/2154800
122 Broadway, Morecambe, LA4 5XZ
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr N Palamountain against the decision of Lancaster City
Council.
The application Ref 10/01101/FUL, dated 27 October 2010, was refused by notice dated
4 April 2011.
The development proposed is described as proposed two storey extension to rear with
first floor extension to side over existing garage.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
2. I have taken account of the views of local residents and other interested
parties in reaching this decision.
Main Issue
3. The effect of the proposed development on the living conditions of the
occupiers of No.120 Broadway by reason of an overbearing nature.
Reasons
4. The element of this appeal that is of concern is the proposed extension to the
north west side of the host dwelling above the existing garage and adjacent to
No.120 Broadway. The proposal would result in a substantial reduction in the
first floor gap between these two dwellings to approximately 5 metres.
However the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 12 [SPG]
‘Residential Design Code’ advises (paragraph 2.17) that there should normally
be at least a 12 metres gap where a habitable room faces on to a side wall of
this nature.
5. The proposal would impinge upon the enjoyment of the use of the ground floor
kitchen diner, a habitable room in No.120 Broadway from which I was able to
view the appeal site during my inspection; its window directly faces the north
west side of the appeal dwelling.
6. In my judgment this element of the proposed development would have a
materially adverse effect on the views of open sky that are currently available
from this kitchen diner window and in this crucial respect my assessment
differs from that of the Council officer and of the appellant. The proposal would
significantly change the current outlook from No.120, notwithstanding current
http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk

Page 119

Appeal Decision APP/A2335/D/11/2154800

views of the boundary fence and neighbouring wall. It would present a
dominant new building element that would noticeably reduce daylight in
the affected room of No.120 Broadway. In all these respects therefore
the proposal would conflict with Lancaster District Local Plan Policy H19
which includes the provision that development should not have an
adverse effect on the amenities of nearby residents.
7. The appellant has drawn attention to an extension that has been
constructed at No.66 Broadway. However I am not aware of all the
circumstances of that case and I must deal with this appeal on the basis
of the details that present themselves at this appeal site.
8. In view of all the above therefore I conclude on the main issue that the
proposed development would have an unacceptably harmful effect on the
living conditions of the occupiers of No.120 Broadway by reason of an
overbearing nature and consequently I dismiss the appeal.

R M Barker
INSPECTOR

Page 120

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk

2

Page 121

Agenda Item 4.5
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/1065

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Regulation 3) for Façade
upgrade to changing facilities with vinyl wrapping and graphics
Site address:
Witton Country Park
The Wits Play Area
Preston Old Road
Blackburn
BB2 2TP
Applicant: Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Ward: Livesey With Pleasington
Councillor Derek Hardman
Councillor John Pearson
Councillor Paul Marrow
Play Area
89.0m

89.6m

Wa rd

FB

Bd y

R iv e

CR

r Da

rw e

n

W eir
Stone

We ir

Pavilion

Pip

Sports Court
El Sub Sta

95.4m

29
3

P

100.6m

6
30

31

Page 122

R

E

S

T

O

N

O

L

Fe

D

nis

R

c

O

A

D

fe
lif

B

ro

w

e

1

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

The proposed development is recommended to be granted planning
permission for the reasons as stated in Paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This application is presented to the Committee through the Chair Referral
process in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation, the applicant being
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council. The proposed development has
been publicised through two site notices.

2.2

The key issues to be addressed are as follows:
• Design and Green Belt amenity

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The site of the proposed development is located in Witton Country Park, the
site being bounded to the south by Preston Old Road and to the north by the
River Darwen. The pavilion and its environs are sited within the Green Belt.
3.1.2 The setting is characterised by development previously considered to be
commensurate with acceptable use of Green Belt land as currently set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 145b. The setting is thus
comprised of artificial grass pitch surfaces, floodlights, ball stop fencing, hard
standing areas that include provision for car parking and pavilion.
3.1.3 The changing facilities are housed in the pavilion, immediately to the east of
the sports pitches. This is a low, single storey cladded building, its roof being
approx. 3.8 metres in height, with the slightest of pitches. The footprint
measures 27 metres in length and, at its widest, 15.3 metres.

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 The proposal is for the upgrading of the external façade of the existing
changing facilities which have recently been refurbished internally. The
proposed work is to be undertaken using vinyl wrapping with graphics to be
developed by an artist. Owing to limited funds being available for the works,
the upgrade is being restricted to the front (south-west) elevation and the main
side (south-east) elevation (excluding the smaller rear extension wall), as
demonstrated on the submitted drawing no. 6224/DA03-013. These are the
elevations facing the pitches and the car park.

Page 123

3.2.2 The works will involve losing the front elevation window openings to the west
of the entrance, whilst the six windows in the east will be replaced with 1.99
metre high glazing in two single windows and one double window, and a
double horizontal-emphasis window with a depth of almost 850 mm, the same
depth as the existing end two windows.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 1 – The Core Strategy
(January 2011)
Policy CS18: The Borough’s Landscapes
3.3.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2 – Site Allocations and
Development Management Policies (December 2015)
Policy 8:
Policy 11:
Policy 3:
3.4

Development and People
Design
The Green Belt

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019):
Section 13:
3.5

Protecting Green Belt Land

Assessment

3.5.1 Design and Green Belt Amenity. The fundamental aim of Green Belt Policy is
to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open – the essential
characteristics of Green Belts being their openness and permanence (NPPF
Paragraph 133).
3.5.2 The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance states that openness is
capable of having both spatial and visual aspects – in other words, the visual
impact of the proposal may be as relevant as the volume.
3.5.3 The provision of outdoor facilities for outdoor sport and recreation is listed in
the NPPF as one of the exceptions to the prohibition of new buildings in the
Green Belt (Paragraph 145b). The Council’s Core Strategy is in accordance
with this exception in that it promotes the active use of the Borough’s
landscapes through leisure and tourism where this is compatible with
objectives relating to their protection
3.5.4 Since there is no proposal to increase either the footprint or the scale of the
existing building, the sole consideration in respect of the Green Belt is the
visual impact of the proposed vinyl wrapping and fenestration detail.

Page 124

3.5.5 Policy 11 of the Local Plan Part 2 requires design to make a positive
contribution to the local area, with materials reflecting local distinctiveness and
character.
3.5.6 The pavilion as it is now is not considered to contribute much in the way of
design or appearance to the setting, being purely functional as a changing
area. The principle of an external change to its colour is therefore considered,
in principle, to be acceptable.
3.5.7 The location of the facility within the Green Belt enables the sports area to
enhance the leisure/tourism aspect of Witton Country Park; and the proposal
for artwork to be used on the vinyl wrapping is considered to add to the
distinctiveness of the setting without harming the visual amenity of the wider
landscape. The relatively low height of the building ensures that the visual
amenity of the artwork will be appreciated within its immediate context whilst
the wider visual amenity provided by the river and Billinge Hill will continue as
the backdrop that draws the eye beyond.
3.5.8 It is noted that the turquoise colour used in the submitted plans is not intended
to be taken as the colour of the vinyl to be used. The architect and the
annotation note on the plan itself both state that the final colour and graphics
will be submitted as a discharge of condition, should this application be
approved by Committee.
3.5.9 The proposed change to the fenestration is also considered to enhance the
appearance of the building. The wood-panelled window openings to the left of
the door are being removed, to allow for an area of colour. The increase in
glazing to the right of the door is considered to provide a balance to the vinyl
wall with a modern appearance that provides for a greater connectivity
between the inside of the building and the external setting.
3.5.10 The proposed development is more than 85 metres from Preston Old Road
and more than 120 metres from the closest dwellinghouse. The windows and
vinyl covering are therefore not considered to unduly impact on either
residential or highway amenity, in accordance with Policies 8 and 10 of the
Local Plan 2.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

It is recommended that the Planning and Highways Committee approve the
application subject to conditions which relate to the following matters:
• Development to commence within 3 years.
• Materials relating to the window formations are to match the original.
• Details of the vinyl covering and graphics and the colours to be used to
be submitted prior to the commencement of development.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

Page 125

5.1

10/18/0963 - Refurbishment of two existing AGPs (Artificial Grass Pitches)
with replacement artificial grass pitch surfaces, floodlights, ball stop fencing
and hard standing areas. Approved by Committee 16th November 2018.

5.2

10/99/0459 - Provision of 6 mini soccer pitches, relocation of mobile changing
rooms, extension of car park. Approved by Committee 29th September 1999.

5.3

10/94/1015 - Alterations and extensions to car parking to Sporturf and
installation of low perimeter fence. Approved by Committee 26th September
1994.

5.4

10/84/1892 - Changing accommodation for general recreational purposes
linked with the synthetic pitch. Approved by Committee 15th January 1985.

5.5

10/82/2141 - Synthetic grass floodlit play area (105m x 75m) with 3m high
fencing and changing accommodation. Approved by Committee 24th
November 1982.

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

No neighbouring properties were consulted.

6.2

No statutory bodies were consulted.

6.3

Two site notices were erected. No comments have been received by the
Council.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER: John Wilson, Planner, Development Management
Contact No. 01254 585142

8.0

DATE PREPARED: 19th December 2019

Page 126

Agenda Item 4.6
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/1090

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for Proposed garage
conversion and single storey rear extension
Site address:
3 Barn Meadow
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0DW
Applicant: Mr Ben Hardman
Ward: West Pennine
Councillor: Colin Rigby
Councillor: Jean Rigby
Councillor: Julie Slater
1

M EA

12

Path

D OW

W

11
12

Watermans Cottage

18

2

WA

YO

HC
RO

27

FT

9

5
20

1

3
1
40

4
37

21

M

O

W
28

N

D

39

R

A

2

38

B

A

E

26

3

B

1

4

EY

15

The Grang

H
LE

U

R L
A

N

1

O

23

B

AR

R

M

A

1 to 5

D

20

2

H

10

E

11

7
22

7

6

1

Page 127

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – subject to the recommended conditions set out in section
4.0 of this report.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The application is presented to Committee under the Chair referral process in
accordance with the Scheme of Delegation as the works are retrospective.
The proposed development has been publicised through letters to residents of
adjoining properties. A significant number of public objections have been
received including the Parish Council and Ward Councillor. A summary of the
comments is set out in section 7.0 below.

2.2

Planning permission for ‘Proposed garage conversion and single storey rear
extension’ was granted on 01/05/2019 subject to conditions. The application
has been submitted on the back of intervention from the Enforcement Officer
as the approval has not been constructed as per the approved plans. The
key issues to be addressed are as follows:
•
•
•

The impact of the development to the amenity of the neighbouring
properties
The impact of the development upon the character and appearance of
the surrounding area.
Boundary dispute/encroachment

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site comprises of a detached bungalow located to the northern
side of Barn Meadow, within the Edgworth village boundary.
3.1.2 The immediate surrounding area comprises of residential dwellings and an
open field that is designated as green belt. Within the field lies a public right
of way to the rear of the property.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 As per 2.2 of this report, planning permission was granted in May 2019 to
convert the garage to a habitable room and the erection of a single storey rear
extension.
3.2.2 Enforcement colleagues visited the site in September 2019 following the
receipt of a complaint from a neighbouring resident.
3.2.3 It was noted the rear extension has been constructed 1m greater in length
than the approved plans and a garden store had been added to the rear
boundary of the property. Planning permission is sought to regularise both
developments.

Page 128

3.2.4 The rear extension measures 6.4m from the rear elevation of the dwelling with
the width at 5.2m. The height to the ridge measures 3.9m.
3.2.5 Principle – the principle of the development has been previously established
through the original permission.
3.2.6 Rear and side extension – the rear extension is attached onto the side
extension/garage conversion. Neighbouring properties considered to be
affected by the development are No.4 Barn Meadow and No.22 Meadow Way.
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 requires that
applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2 – Site Allocations
Development Management Policies (December 2015)
Policy 3: The Green Belt
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 11: Design
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Residential Design Guide SPD
This document provides targeted advice to ensure high quality new homes. It
aims to ensure that new development reflects the individual and collective
character of areas of the Borough and promotes high standards of design.
The document also seeks to ensure a good relationship between existing and
proposed development in terms of protecting and enhancing.
3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) is a material
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework sets out a presumption in
favour of sustainable development in Paragraph 7, which is the “golden
thread” running through both plan-making and decision-taking. It identifies in
Paragraph 8 that there are three overarching objectives to sustainable
development. These are Economic, Social and Environmental.
Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains that for decision making, this means
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay.
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 Residential Amenity– Policy 8 of the LPP2 (2015) states that development
must secure a satisfactory level of amenity for surrounding uses with
reference to issues including; loss of light, privacy/overlooking and the

Page 129

relationship between buildings. This is reiterated and further guidance is
supplied within the Residential Design Guide.
The rear extension lies adjacent to the rear garden of No.22 Meadow Way.
RES E3 of the Residential Design Guide requires a minimum of 21 metres
separation distance to be maintained between facing windows of habitable
rooms. No.22 Meadow Way sits circa 30m forward to the rear boundary of
the application site and therefore it is not considered the additional 1m in
length will have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the occupants at No.22
with reference to issues including; loss of light, privacy overlooking and the
relationship between buildings.
With regards to No.4 Barn Meadow, the side and rear extension adjoin the
detached garage at No.4. Taking this into account and the boundary
treatment it is not considered the additional 1m will pose any greater amenity
concerns to the rear facing habitable room windows at No.4 Barn Meadow.
Members should note that the majority of the development has been
approved and the additional 1m in length of the rear extension is not
considered to provide any additional harm to neighbouring amenity.
Compliance with Policy 8 of the LPP2 and RES E7, E8 of the Residential
Design Guide is therefore achieved.
3.5.2 Visual Amenity/Design - Policy 11 of the Local Plan requires development to
present a good standard of design, demonstrating an understanding of the
wider context and make a positive contribution to the local area. The policy
sets out a list of detailed design requirements relating to character,
townscape, public realm, movement, sustainability, diversity, materials, colour
and viability. This underpins the main principles of sustainable development
contained in the NPPF.
Policies RES E7 Rear Extensions and RES E8 Single Storey Side Extensions
of the Residential Design Guide requires that single storey extensions appear
subordinate in design and the materials used, roof shape, style and proportion
of windows and doors of the extension reflects and adds to the appearance of
the house and its surroundings.
The use of matching materials and the UPVC window finish would maintain
coherence between the main dwelling and the development. The
development will therefore not result in any harm to the appearance of the
host dwelling or the surrounding area and would accord with LPP2 Policy 11
and RES E1, E7, and E8 of the Residential Design Guide.
Taking into consideration the above it is considered that the side and rear
extension meet the requirements of Policy 11 of the LPP2.
3.5.3 Boundary dispute/encroachment – Along with the neighbour objections, the
Ward Councillor and Parish Council raise concerns with regards to the
additional 1m in length resulting in encroachment over No.22 Meadow Way.

Page 130

Members should note certificate B on the application form has been signed
and served on both affected parties (No.22 Meadow Way and No.4 Barn
Meadow).
Notwithstanding this, it should be noted the encroachment, appears to be
inconclusive when viewed from the rear of the property. Boundary posts are
positioned between along the rear boundary of the application site and No.22
Meadow Way.
The erection of the outbuilding/garden store along the rear boundary is
considered acceptable. The proposed flat roof ensures the outbuilding will
pose no harm to neighbouring amenity.
The rear wall of the outbuilding forms a continuation of the original garage wall
and therefore it is difficult to assess if any encroachment has occurred.
It should also be noted as a fall-back position the outbuilding complies with
the requirements of Part 1, Class E of the GPDO and therefore permission is
only required as the outbuilding adjoins the rear extension.
Furthermore, Members are aware that boundary disputes/encroachment
issues are a civil issue that may be pursued by the Party Wall Act.

Summary
Taking into account the above, the granting of the retention of the
development does not result in any significant harm to the character and
appearance of the existing dwelling or the surrounding area nor does it cause
any significant harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION
•

Development to be in accordance with submitted details / drawing nos.

5.0

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/19/0198 – Proposed garage conversion and single storey rear extension
(approved subject to conditions on 01/05/2019).

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Public consultation has taken place, with 5 letters posted to neighbouring
addresses. In response, 5 objections were received which are shown within
the summary below, and in detail in Section 9.

Page 131

Reasons:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
7.0

Encroachment/boundary dispute
Development not in keeping with the area due to the size
Extensions visible from the field and PROW to the rear
Impact on residential amenity i.e. loss of light, overbearing
Drainage/water run-off issues of the garden store
Insufficient landscaping
Development sets a precedent within the immediate area

CONTACT OFFICER: Adam Shaikh – Assistant Planner
DATE PREPARED: 24th December 2019

Page 132

8.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Objection from Glenys Syddall, Clerk to North Turton Parish Council

Objection from Cllr Jean Rigby
Dear Lesley.
Having just received your response to the the Parish Council re the above.
My concern is the encroachment of the field owned by BwD by the resident of the above property.
Please advise.
Jean Rigby
Councillor for West Pennines Ward

Objection from Miss J Hall
I am writing to object for the above planning application for 3 Barn Meadow Edgworth
Bolton for several reasons these are;
1. It is not in keeping with the area and other properties around it. This is due to the
proposed size of the extension. It will leave very little greenery around the developed site.
2. It will be very visible from the field and footpath behind it. The development will look
ridiculously oversized and be a blot on the countryside which surrounds it.
3. From the property that I live (22meadow way) it will take a large amount of light off the
garden and most will be in shadow.
4. The roof overhang is currently encroaching on to our property and according to these
new plans will continue to do so.
5. The plans show a proposed garden store with a large single brick wall. If a roof was to be
put on this store the overhang would encroach onto our property and the run off of any
water would also fall on to our land causing our land to become waterlogged.
When looking at the proposed plans it is very clear there are some detrimental flaws with in
them therefore for these reasons this application should be refused.

Page 133

Objection from Mrs Olwen Hall
I would like to put forward an objection for the above planning application for 3 Barn Meadow
Edgworth Bolton on the grounds of:
1. Due to its size It is not in keeping with the area and other properties around it.
2. It is very visible from the field and footpath behind it.
3. The existing property looks over developed for the size of land that it stands in.
4. The plans put forward for it have some major flaws for example the outline of the properties
rear garden is not correct the boundary of 3 Barn Meadow is not in line with 22 Meadow Way as
shown on the plans because Meadow Ways garden goes around the rear of Barn Meadow. This
means that with the new extension there is virtually no rear garden left. On the agents details it says
the extension is not over looked by any land or public footpath when it is very visible from the public
footpath behind it.
5. The plans show a triangular garden store where at present it is a 7ft single brick wall therefore if a
roof was to be put on this store the overhang would encroach onto Meadow Ways property and the
run off of any water would also fall on their land.
6. When looking at the erected extension the roof also encroaches on meadow ways property this
surely can't be right.
7. Finally I live in Wayoh Croft and from my rear windows the extension looks out of place when
comparing it with other properties around it. It also looks like the corner of the extension is over the
boundary wall between Barn Meadow and Meadow Way which looks very odd.
For these reasons this application should be refused.

Objection from Mr Michael Nicholson - 22 Meadow Way
Dear Sir/Madam
I am objecting to planning permission at 3 Barn Meadow ref 10/19/1090 as I feel it is over
bearing and taking the natural light off my property. (22 Meadow Way)
I have already complained about the last planning permission granted as the building has not
followed the agreed plans and is now encroaching on my property with the pitched roof as it
has been built too big.
The developer has no regard for neighbors and is only out for a quick profit. The proposed
extension is not in keeping with the local area. The proposed development includes
insufficient landscaping and seems oversized for the small plot which it is situated on.
Approval would create a president meaning that it would be difficult to object to similar
proposals.

Page 134

I also have concerns about the garden store as if the wall which has been built receives
concent the roof will be over shadowing my property. Also with it being a triangular shaped
roof where will the water flow to? as the developer isn't going to pitch the roof towards his
own property.
Taking in to consideration all of the above I will be very concerned should the planning gain
approval.
Your Sincerely

Page 135

